CATION- AND ANION-ADSORPTION PROPERTIES OF SULFOBETAINE TYPE GELS AND THEIR RELATIONSHIP WITH SWELLING OR TRANSITION BEHAVIORS IN AQUEOUS SALT SOLUTIONS

(種々の塩水溶液中でのスルフォベタイン型ゲルへのカチオン

およびアニオンの吸着特性と膨潤あるいは転移挙動との相関)

A Thesis Submitted to The Department of Chemical Engineering Graduate School of Engineering Hiroshima University

by

Eva Oktavia Ningrum

In Partial Fulfilment of the Requirement For the Degree of Doctor of Engineering

> Hiroshima University March 2015

Approved by Professor Shuji Sakohara Advisor

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would very like to express my sincere and permanent gratitude to Allah-the Most Gracious, the Most Merciful for the wonderful opportunity and blessing by helping me finish this work.

I wish to express my deepest appreciation to my supervisor, Prof. Shuji Sakohara, for teaching, advising and supporting me throughout my work. I am most grateful for having had the opportunity to work with a team of exceptionally intelligent and wonderful people in Polymer Technology group. I owe a lot to all my labmates, especially to Yukiko Murakami who has helped me as my tutor and also to the staffs of the Chemical Engineering Department, Hiroshima University. I am also grateful to Prof. Takashi Iizawa, Prof. Toshinori Tsuru, and Prof. Tsuyoshi Siono for being on my Supervisory committee, and for their helpful discussion and useful suggestions.

My completion of this project could not have been accomplished without the support of my mother and grandmother. The countless times you kept the children during my study will not be forgotten. To my children Asiya Khairunnisa and Azima Khansa, I promise will never keep you away again from now on. Finally, to my caring, loving and supportive husband, Sinung Widiyanto: my deepest gratitude. Your encouragement when the time got rough are much appreciated and duly noted. It was a great comfort and relief to know that you were willing to provide management of our household activities during my study.

Eva Oktavia Ningrum

Hiroshima, March 2015

Abstract

Studies on the properties of polymers or gels based on zwitterionic betaine have received much attention in the scientific and engineering communities. Various type of zwitterionic betaine polymers or gels, such as phosphobetaine, sulfobetaine, and carbobetaine have shown excellent chemical stability, good biocompatibility, ultralow fouling, and excellent mechanical properties. Zwitterionic betaine type polymer or gels containing both anionic and cationic active groups in the same side chain of the polymeric repeat unit with a spacer composed of methylene groups between them bears an overall neutral charged. It also offers potential improvement of the ion selectivity toward adsorption because the cations and anions in the solution can bond via both the negative and positive charges located in the same repeating unit, and they regarded as one of the effective method in the separation process such as in the application of column chromatography. Furthermore, it is well known that zwitterionic betaine polymers are generally thermosensitive in aqueous solutions as shown by their upper critical solution temperature (UCST). However, there are relatively few studies on the adsorption of cations and anions onto sulfobetaine polymers and gels, although the adsorption behavior is recognized to affect the swelling and transition behaviors. Therefore, the objectives of the present study are the investigation on the ion-adsorption properties, swelling behavior, and transition behavior of sulfobetaine gels and/or polymers in various salt solutions, and their relationships. In the present study, two types sulfobetaine, i.e., N,Ndimethyl(acrylamidopropyl)ammonium propane sulfonate (DMAAPS) and N, Ndimethyl(acrylamidopropyl)ammonium butane sulfonate (DMAABS) were used.

This thesis is organized in the following way. The background, previous research, and main objectives of the thesis are included in **Chapter 1**.

In **Chapter 2**, the simultaneous adsorption of cations and anions onto DMAAPS gel was confirmed using NaNO₃, $Zn(NO_3)_2$, and $Al(NO_3)_3$ solutions. Furthermore, the effect of the preparation conditions such as cross-linker and monomer concentrations on the adsorption and

swelling behaviors of the gel in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution was investigated under various temperatures and nitrate concentrations. In addition, an interesting correlation between the degree of swelling of the gel and the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the gel was found; the data points laid on the same line even at different cross-linker and/or monomer concentrations or temperatures when the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ concentration was the same. As the swelling degree decreased, the adsorption amount increased to eventually achieve a constant value, which can be recognized as the maximum amount of ion adsorbed onto the gel. It was shown to be proportional to the equilibrium concentration of $Zn(NO_3)_2$ in the solution in the experimental range.

In **Chapter 3**, the adsorption of cations and anions in four kinds of halide solutions, i.e., KF, KCl, KBr and KI solutions, onto the DMAAPS gels prepared with various cross-linker concentrations was investigated at various temperatures. The swelling degree of the gel in these solutions was also examined. It was found that the order of the amount of K⁺ adsorbed onto the gel in these solutions was opposite that of anion species in the Hofmeister series, i.e., $\Gamma > Br^- > CI^- > F^-$. Furthermore, the similar relationship between the swelling degree of the gel and the amount of K⁺ adsorbed onto the gel observed in Chap. 2 was confirmed. Additionally, it was found that in the mixture of these halide solutions, the competitive adsorption of anions occurred. In the mixture, the adsorbed amount of the anion on the more right side of the Hofmeister series became larger than that in the single-components solutions, while those on the more left side of the Hofmeister series became smaller than in the single-components solutions.

In **Chapter 4**, introduces a study on the transition temperature of the poly(DMAAPS) in various aqueous salt solutions. The transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) was strongly influenced by the salt solution concentration and anion or cation species in the solutions. It was found that the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) initially increased with increasing the salt concentration in the solution, and then decreased as the concentration of salt increased further. Furthermore, an interesting relationship between the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) and the maximum amount of ion adsorbed onto the DMAAPS

gel in various solutions was obtained. The transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) initially increased and then decreased as the maximum amount of ion adsorbed increased, which depend on the ion species and ion concentration. In other words, the data points laid on the same line even at different ion species when the ion concentration was the same. This result suggests that the maximum amount of ion adsorbed can be simply estimated by measuring the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS), which can be obtained easily by measuring the temperature dependence of transmittance through the salt solution containing poly(DMAAPS).

In **Chapter 5**, the effect of methylene groups spacer between the charged functional groups of sulfobetaine on the adsorption, swelling, and transition behaviors using the DMAAPS and DMAABS polymers and/or gels was investigated in the NaNO₃, Zn(NO₃)₂ solutions. The amount of ion adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and its swelling degree depended strongly on the temperature and cross-linker concentration in the preparation of the gel. In contrast, the amount of ion adsorbed onto the DMAABS gel was independent of the cross-linker concentration used in the preparation of the gel. Furthermore, the swelling degree of the DMAABS gel was also independent of the cross-linker concentration and temperature. In addition, the transition temperature of poly(DMAABS) slightly increased with that of poly(DMAAPS). These results suggest that the interaction between positive and negative charged groups in the DMAABS is stronger than that in the DMAAPS.

In Chapter 6 contains the conclusions obtained in Chapter 2 to 5.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments

Abstract	I
Table of contents	IV

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Background	1
1.1.1. Properties of zwitterionic betaine gels	2
1.1.2. Type of sulfobetaine gels	4
1.1.2.1. Polycarbobetaine gels	4
1.1.2.2. Polysulfobetaine gels	4
1.1.2.3. Polyphosphobetaine gels	6
1.2. Review of previous work	8
1.2.1. Phase transition of betaine polymer	8
1.2.2. Swelling behavior of betaine gel	9
1.2.3. Adsorption properties of ions onto betaine gel	.10
1.3. Objectives and outline of this thesis	.12
1.4. References	.14

CHAPTER II EFFECTS OF PREPARATION CONDITION OF DMAAPS GEL ON			
ION-ADSORPTION PROPERTIES AND SWELLING BEHAVIOR .	17		
2.1. Introduction	17		
2.2. Experimental Section	18		
2.2.1. Materials			
2.2.2. Synthesis of DMAAPS			
2.2.3. Preparation of the DMAAPS gel	19		

2.2.4. Preparation of the copolymer gel of NaAMPS and DMAPAA-Q	.20
2.2.5. Measurement of the amount of cation and anion adsorbed on the gel	.20
2.2.6. Measurement of the degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel	.21
2.3. Result and Discussion	.22
2.3.1. Time dependence of adsorption of cation onto the DMAAPS gel	.22
2.3.2. Simultaneous adsorption of anion and cation onto the DMAAPS gel	.23
2.3.3. Ion exchange adsorption of anion and cation onto the copolymer gel of NaAMPS	
and DMAPAA-Q	.24
2.3.4. Adsorption and swelling behaviors of the DMAAPS gel prepared by various cross-	
linker concentrations	.26
2.3.5. Adsorption and swelling behaviors of the DMAAPS gel prepared by various	
monomer concentrations	.29
2.3.6. The relationship between the adsorption and swelling behaviors	.30
2.4. Summary	.34
2.5. References	.36

CHAPTER III CATION- AND ANION-ADSORPTION PROPERTIES OF DMAAPS

GEL AND ITS RELATIONSHIP WITH SWELLING BEHAVIOR IN AQUEOUS

SALT S	OLUTIONS	37
3.1. Intro	oduction	37
3.2. Exp	perimental Section	38
3.3. Resu	ults and Discussion	38
3.3.1	1. The adsorption and swelling behaviors of the DMAAPS gel in various h	alide
	solutions	
	3.3.1.1. The amount of cations adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel prepare	d by
	various cross-linker concentrations	38

1
5
7
8
2
2
4
6
7

СН	APTER	IV	PHASE	TRANSITION	OF	POLY(DMAAPS)	AND	ITS
RE	LATION	SHIP	WITH CA	ATION- AND AN	NION-A	ADSORPTION PRO	PERTIE	S OF
DN	IAAPS G	EL IN	AQUEOU	US SALT SOLUTI	IONS .		• • • • • • • • • • • •	59
4.1	. Introduc	ction .	••••				•••••	59
4.2	. Experim	ent Se	ction	•••••	• • • • • • • • •			60
	4.2.1. Pr	eparati	on of the p	oly(DMAAPS)				60
	4.2.2. M	easurei	ment of the	phase transition of	the pol	y(DMAAPS)		61
4.3	. Results a	and Di	scussion.	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	••••		• • • • • • • • • • • •	61
	4.3.1. T	he pha	ise transiti	on of the poly(D	MAAPS	S) in Zn(NO ₃) ₂ solut	tion of v	arious
	С	oncent	rations					61
	4.3.2. Th	ne phas	e transition	of the poly(DMA	APS) in	halide solutions cont	aining dif	ferent
	a	nion sp	becies					62

4.3.3. The phase transition of the poly(DMAAPS) in various solutions containing	5
different cation and anion species	.65
4.4. Summary	.71
4.5. References	.72
CHAPTER V COMPARISON BETWEEN DMAAPS AND DMAABS POLYMERS	•
AND GELS ON ION-ADSORPTION, SWELLING, AND TRANSITION BEHAVIORS	73
5.1. Introduction	.73
5.2. Experiment Section	.74
5.2.1. Materials	.74
5.2.2. Synthesis of DMAABS	.74
5.2.3. Preparation of the DMAABS gel	.75
5.3. Results and Discussion	.76
5.3.1. Time dependence of adsorption onto the DMAABS gel	.76
5.3.2. A comparison of the adsorption behaviors of ions onto the DMAAPS and	l
DMAABS gels in Zn(NO ₃) ₂ and NaNO ₃ solutions	.77
5.3.3. A comparison of the swelling behaviors of DMAAPS and DMAABS gels in	L
Zn(NO ₃) ₂ and NaNO ₃ solutions	.80
5.3.4. A comparison of the relationship between the adsorption and swelling behaviors of	Ē
DMAAPS and DMAABS gels	.83
5.3.5. Time dependence of the phase transition of the poly(DMAAPS) and	l
poly(DMAABS) in water and Zn(NO ₃) ₂ solution	.86
5.3.6. The phase transition of the poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) in water and	l
Zn(NO ₃) ₂ solution in various heating rates	.87
5.3.7. The phase transition of the poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) of various	\$
intrinsic viscosities in water and Zn(NO ₃) ₂ solution	.89

5.3.8. The phase transition of the poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) of various
polymer concentration in water and Zn(NO ₃) ₂ solution91
5.3.9. The phase transition of poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) in Zn(NO ₃) ₂ solution
of various concentration
5.4. Summary
5.5. References

APPENDIX	
Nomenclature	101
List of Figures	
List of Tables	

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1. Background

In the last five decades, polymers incorporating zwitterionic species have been recognized as promising candidates for responsive systems geared towards various potential applications such as biosensors, catalysts, drug delivery systems, and separation media [1,2]. The specific, sensitive, and instantaneous responsiveness demonstrated by polyzwitterions has been the focus of considerable scientific research, and study of these materials has continued to gain momentum in recent decades. The zwitterionic betaine polymer containing both anionic and cationic active groups in the same side chain of the polymeric repeat unit with an alkylene group between them bears an overall neutral charge. Zwitterionic polymers such as sulfobetaine [3–6], phosphobetaine [7,8], and carboxybetaine [9–11] respectively contain sulfonate, phosphate, and carboxylate species as the cationic active group with the quaternary ammonium ion as the anionic active group. Zwitterionic betaine polymers differ considerably from ionic polymers, where the latter contain only negatively or positively charged functional groups. Zwitterionic betaine polymers also exhibit ion selectivity because the ions can bond via both the negative and positive charges located in the same repeat unit [12–14].

One of the unique characteristics of zwitterionic betaine is the ability of the fragments forming a cyclic conformation of the cationic and anionic groups of neighboring monomer residues (intra-group), or cationic and anionic groups contact between neighboring macromolecules (inter-chain), and head-to-tail stacking within single macromolecules (intra-chain) which results in the insolubility of zwitterionic betaine in pure water [15,16]. These interactions depend on the flexibility of spacer between opposite charges and length. This

dependency determines the solubility, phase, volume, ionization ability and conformational state of polymeric betaine in aqueous solutions.



Fig. 1–1 Intra-group (a), intra-chain (b), and inter-chain (c) salt bonds in polybetaine.

Furthermore, zwitterionic betaine polymers are generally thermosensitive in aqueous solutions; that is, they are insoluble in water below the transition temperature and soluble above the transition temperature. The transition temperature is referred to as the upper critical solution temperature (UCST). At temperatures below the UCST, the zwitterionic polymer is in a collapsed-coil state due to the intra- and/or inter-chain interactions. However, at temperatures above the UCST, the polymer adopts an extended conformation because the thermal motion of the polymer molecules overcomes the intra- and/or inter-chain interactions [17]. Moreover, the UCST of zwitterionic polymers increases with increasing polymer concentration, which is attributed to an increase in the intra- and/or inter-chain pairings. Consequently, more thermal energy is required to overcome these interactions [18]. The interaction of the charge groups of zwitterionic betaine and aqueous salt solution also strongly determines the zwitterionic betaine properties [15]. The solubility of zwiterionic betaine in salt solutions depends on the nature of the anions and cations and is well described by the charge/radius ratio, Hofmeister series and Pearson theory [15,19,20].

1.1.1. Properties of zwitterionic betaine gels

Polymeric betaine gel or usually known as polyzwitterions constitutes a special class of polyampholytes containing identical number of positively or negatively charged species on the same monomer units [15]. Polymeric betaines are soluble in pure water, but they are soluble in salt solutions. In contrast, polymeric carboxybetaine, sulfobetaine, and phosphobetaine have a very small disturbing effect on the structure of the hydrogen-bonding network of water molecules in dilute solutions, because of the intra- and inter-tether proximity between the oppositely charged groups [5]. Low molecular weight zwitterions are able to fold intra-molecularly into a loop conformation in according to molecular modeling calculations and NMR spectra. The positive charge of zwitterions on one end of the molecule interacts with the negative charge on the other end, in dependence on the length and flexibility of the spacer. This folding pattern is useful for the design of supramolecular polymers or gels by varying the linker flexibility and length [21].

Numerous studies of zwitterionic sulfobetaine type polymers and gels have been reported in recent years, most of which have placed emphasis on the synthesis and solution properties of the polymers, such as the thermosensitive properties mentioned above, or the swelling degree of the gels, which varies with the monomer concentration [22], cross-linker concentration [23–25], salt concentration [18,26,27], ionic strength [28,29], etc. In contrast, there are relatively few studies on the adsorption of cations and anions on such polymers and gels, although the adsorption behavior is recognized to affect the swelling and transition behaviors. Moreover, there is very little information on the effects of the conditions utilized in the preparation of the gels, such as the cross-linker and monomer concentrations, on the amount of ions adsorbed onto the gel. The adsorption behavior of zwitterionic sulfobetaine type polymers and gels is primarily determined by the interaction between the charged groups in the sulfobetaine (SO_3^- and N^+) group and the ions (cation and anion) in the solutions.

1.1.2. Type of betaine gels

1.1.2.1. Polycarbobetaine gels

Polycarbobetaine contain carboxylate species as the cationic active group with the quaternary ammonium ion as the anionic active group. Polycarbobetaine can be synthesized via a number of reaction pathways by functionalization of suitable monomers or polymers. The chemical structure of most polycarbobetaine is divided into three groups: polyzwitterions derived from polymeric heterocyclic or aromatic vinyl compounds, quaternary esters or amides of methacrylic acid, in which the quaternary nitrogen is substituted by an alkoxy group of different chain length, and quaternary polypyrrolidinium compounds containing linear and branched alkylcarboxy groups [15]. The polymerization kinetics of carbobetaine monomers is strongly pH dependent due to the possible protonation of the carboxylate moiety in aqueous acidic solution. In some cases, the ionic strength of the solvent was increased by inorganic salts [30,31], obviously to increase the solubility of the polymers. Polycarbobetaine is lauroyl amino propyl dimethyl carbobetaine, with chemical structure shown in Fig. 1–2.

$$C_{11}H_{23} - C - N - (CH_2)_3 - N^+ - (CH_2)_3 - COO^-$$

Fig. 1–2 Structure of lauroyl amino propyl dimethyl carbobetaine.

1.1.2.2. Polysulfobetaine gels

Polysulfobetaine contain sulfonate species as the cationic active group with the quaternary ammonium ion as the anionic active group. Sulfobetaine are prepared by alkylsulfonation of a monomeric or polymeric tertiary amine with strained sultones, usually 1,3-propanesultone or 1,4-butanesultone as shown in Fig. 1–4. Most of early investigations on polymeric betaines relate to the sulfo derivatives. Chemical structure of polysulfobetaine can also be divided in

several groups: quaternary esters or amides of methacrylic acid, quaternary polypyrrolidinium compounds, ionenes, and polyvinylpyridinium or polyvinylimidazolium compound [15]. Example of the sulfobetaine-type polymer or gel is *N*,*N*-dimethyl(acrylamidopropil)-ammonium propane sulfonate (DMAAPS) represented by Fig. 1–3.



Fig. 1–3 Structure of *N*,*N*-dimethyl(acrylamidopropil)ammonium propane sulfonate (DMAAPS).

The main difference between polycarboxybetaine and polysulfobetaine is the basicity, the carboxylate group in polycarboxybetaine is stronger base than the sulfonate group of polysulfobetaine [31,32]. By lowering pH in aqueous solution, carboxylate group can be rendered nonionic, whereas sulfonate group remains anionic even at low pH due to the low pKa. This leads the reduced viscosity of polycarboxybetaine passes through a minimum undergoing a polyanion \leftrightarrow polyzwitterion \leftrightarrow polycation transition. In contrast, at low pH polysulfobetaine does not exhibit an enhanced viscosity due to the weak basicity of the sulfonate group [15]. A combination of static and dynamic laser light scattering was employed to study the effects of temperature, pH, and ionic strength on inter-and intra-chain interactions in poly(N,N-dimethylmethacrylamidopropyl)ammonium propiolactone [33]. The equilibrium shifts from associates toward individual chains by increasing the temperature to 50 °C. The addition of NaOH results in the ionization of carboxylic groups, which suppresses inter-chain aggregates. Moreover, the addition of a small amount of NaCl at pH 12 at first enhances the dissociation of interchain associates, because both the hydrodynamic radius and molar mass decrease. The further addition of salt leads in chain extension as the intra-chain association is broken up. Thus, at sufficiently high salt concentration intra-group, intra-chain, and inter-chain ion contacts are disrupted.

In this thesis, sulfobetaine type polymers and gels was employed to study the adsorption, swelling, and transition behaviors of the polymers and gel, because of their facile synthesis, stable in adsorption, less influenced by pH, and generally showed a thermosensitive properties in aqueous solutions.





23	R1	Х	n	m	R ₂	р
а	Н	NH	3	1	-CH₃	3
b	-CH₃	0	2	1	-CH3	3
с	н	0	2	1	-CH ₃	3
d	-CH ₃	0	2	2,3,4	-CH ₃ , -C ₂ H ₅	4
е	-CH ₃	NH	3	1	-CH₃	3

Fig. 1–4 Polysulfobetaine compiled in several reviews.

1.1.2.3. Polyphosphobetaine gels

Polyphosphobetaine contain phosphate species as the cationic active group with the quaternary ammonium ion as the anionic active group. Polymerization of polyphosphobetaine gel is mostly achieved by redox-initiated, thermally or photochemically induced free radical polymerization of the zwitterionic monomers. Example of the phosphobetaine-type polymer or gel is 2-methacryloyloxyethyl phosphorylcholine (MPC) represented by Fig. 1–5.



Fig. 1–5 Structure of 2-methacryloyloxyethyl phosphorylcholine (MPC).

Occasionally, in order to achieve stepwise polymerization and cross-linking of selforganized structures, the different polymerizable groups were cumulated in such reactive lipids [34,35]. A major difficulty in the synthesis of polyphospobetaine is the incorporation of the phosphatidylcholine moiety into the polymerizable lecithins. Nowadays, the main and highly versatile pathway to phosphobetaine vinyl monomers is the reaction of an OH group containing methacrylate or methacrylamide with 2-chloro-2-oxo-1,3,2-dioxaphospholane, with subsequent ring opening by trimethylamine leading to phosphorylcholine-containing compounds [36]. Polymers based on MPC are excellent bio and blood compatibilities. Phosphobetaines MPC copolymers with methacrylic acid prepared by radical polymerization in water show spontaneous gelation [37]. To improve the gel properties a new dimethacrylate cross-linker with a phosphorylcholine-like linkage was used in the copolymerization of MPC and 2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate [38]. It was found by Wang et al. that cross-linking of the acrylamide derivative with *N*,*N*-methylenebisacrylamide leads to a decrease in swelling degree of the gel with increasing temperature [39].

The interaction of the charge groups of zwitterionic betaine gel and aqueous salt solution also strongly determines the zwitterionic betaine gel properties [15]. The solubility of zwiterionic betaine polymer and swelling degree of the gel in salt solutions depends on the nature of the anions and cations and is well described by the charge/radius ratio, Hofmeister series and Pearson theory [15,19,20]. For salts with a common anion (Cl⁻) and monovalent cations, the solubility decreases as $K^+ > Na^+ > NH_4^+ > Li^+$, while for divalent cations the solubility decreases in the order $Ba^{2+} > Sr^{2+} > Ca^{2+} > Mg^{2+}$. Furthermore, the solubility decreases in the order $CIO_4^- > I^- > Br^- > CI^- > F^-$ in the presence of salts with a common cation (K⁺) but different anions species. Polybetaine have a strong binding capacity with respect to low molecular weight salts due to the high density in dipolar units and dipole moment, and used broadly as solid electrolytes for high-energy batteries. Such behavior was demonstrated for a number of polybetaine blended with LiClO₄, NaClO4, NaNO₃, NaBr, or NaI [33,40–42].

1.2. Review of previous work

1.2.1. Phase transition of betaine polymer

Zwitterionic moieties form associations through the interactions between the cationic and anionic groups that determine many properties of zwitterionic materials. For instance, Azzaroni et al. [43] showed that associations among sulfobetaine moieties might lead zwitterionic sulfobetaine polymer brushes to be hydrophobic. The antipolyelectrolyte effect of zwitterionic polymers is also attributed to the influences of salts on the associations of zwitterionic moieties [44]. Several reports on the factors affecting the UCST have been presented. For example, the UCST shifted to higher temperature with increasing molecular weight and concentration of the sulfobetaine polymer [45-48] whereas the UCST shifted to lower temperature when salt was added to the solution or when the pH changed from 7 [18,46,49]. Schultz et al. [47] showed that adding salts could decrease the upper critical solution temperature of sulfobetaine polymers. They also observed an inverted lower critical solution temperature for sulfobetaine polymers. They proposed that such behaviors are due to the variation of the associations among sulfobetaine moieties. Takahashi et al. [18] investigated that in water as the zwitterionic polymer concentration was increased; there was an increase in the UCST. On the other hand, when the polymer concentration was low, the change in the transmittance was broad. This behavior is due to when the polymer

concentration increase, the intra-chain and/or inter-chain parings also increase, and more thermal energy is required to overcome the intra-chain and/or inter-chain interactions. However, the inter-chain and/or intra-chain parings decreased and are distributed inhomogeneously when the polymer concentration was low.

It has also been reported that the phase transition and associated UCST vary with the synthetic procedure and resulting molecular structure, such as interpenetrating [50] or semiinterpenetrating networks [18], block copolymers [51,52] and fullerene (C60)-end-capped polymers [53]. The effects of molecular weight, chemical cross-link density and copolymerization on the UCST of poly(DMAAPS) have been reported by Ning et al. [22]. It was found that the UCST was maximal at a critical polymer concentration as a result of the combined effects of the inter-chain association of zwitterionic groups and the restricted motion of the polymer chains in the condensed state. The physically cross-linked poly(DMAAPS) gels could be dissolved by immersion in aqueous NaCl solution at room temperature, or by immersion in hot water (>UCST), through a combination of dissociation of ionic interactions and overall dilution. In the case of the poly(DMAAPS) gel with a chemically cross-linked network, the UCST shifted to lower temperatures with increasing cross-linking density, and at a very high degree of chemical cross-linking, the phase transition almost disappeared.

1.2.2. Swelling behavior of betaine gel

Polybetaine gels are similar to polyelectrolyte gels i.e., sensitive to the external stimuli such as pH, temperature, ionic strength, solvent nature, and DC electric field [6,54]. Polyelectrolyte gels also can swell, shrink, or bend when an external electric current is applied [55,56]. The electric-stimuli property of the polybetaine gels depends on the pH of the outer solution, the ionic strength, the direction of the electric field with respect to the gel specimen, and the applied voltage [57]. The swelling of sulfobetaine polymers gel vary as a function of

salt concentration and temperature, indicating the importance of associations among zwitterionic moieties in performance of zwitterionic materials [6,58]. The swelling and mechanical properties of а gel based the zwitterionic monomer N.Non dimethylmethacryloyloxyethyl-N-(3-sulphopropyl)ammonium betaine cross-linked with ethylene glycol dimethacrylate have been determined as a function of temperature by Huglin et al. [24]. The volumetric swelling has been found to decrease slightly with temperature. On the other hand, the Young's moduli as well as the experimental cross-link density increases with temperature. A series of xerogels based on sodium acrylate (SA), N,Ndimethyl(acrylamidopropyl)ammonium propane sulfonate (DMAAPS) or dimethyl-(methacryloyloxy ethyl)ammonium propane sulfonate (DMAPS) was reported. The swelling behaviors were related to their chemical structures, their compositions, and the nature of external salt solutions [6]. Swelling behavior of various copolymer gel based on sulfobetaine have also been reported. Lee at al. [59] investigated the swelling properties of zwitterionic gels in various salt solutions. The zwitterionic gels were prepared from Nisopropylacrylamide (NIPAAm), trimethyl acrylamidopropyl ammonium iodide (TMAAI), and 3-dimethyl (methacryloxyethyl) ammonium propane sulfonate (DMAPS) in various salt solutions. It was found that in saline solution, the swelling ratio of pure NIPAAm gel did not significantly change with an increase in the salt concentration until the salt concentration was larger than 0.5 M. In addition, the copolymer gels exhibited polyelectrolytic behavior under lower salt concentration $(10^{-5}-10^{-1} \text{ M})$, exhibited a nonionic gel (like NIPAAm) behavior at the salt concentration from 0.1 to 0.5 M, and showed an antipolyelectrolytic behavior or polyzwitterionic effect at a concentration of salt over 0.5 M.

1.2.3. Adsorption properties of ions onto betaine gel

The absorption capacity of polybetaine is more pronounced which is the subject of the present study. Recent development on zwitterionic ion-exchangers showed that these ion-

exhangers exhibited unique separation selectivity and the possibility of simultaneous separations of cations and anions on a single column. Furthermore, the presence of oppositely charged groups on the surface of the stationary phase can provide separation of zwitterionic analytes due to simultaneous interactions of the analytes with both functional groups of the stationary phase [14]. Neagu et al. [12] investigated the retention capacities of divalent and trivalent heavy metals in zwitterionic ion exchangers with carboxybetaine moieties based on 4-vinylpyridine: Divinylbenzene copolymers with two morphological structures, i.e., porous-and non-porous–type gels. Both types of gels synthesized for their study retained metal ions and anions from aqueous solution; however, they did not adsorb alkaline earth metals.

Adsorption in a series of zwitterionic hybrid polymers prepared from the ring-opening polymerization of pyromellitic acid dianhydride (PMDA) and phenylaminomethyl trimethoxysilane (PAMTMS), and a subsequent sol–gel process was investigated by Liu et al. [1]. It was found that the zwitterionic hybrid polymers have larger affinity for Pb²⁺. The desorption efficiency of Cu²⁺ and Pb²⁺ reached up to 96 and 89%, respectively; indicating that they can be regenerated and recycled in industry. Their findings suggest that these polymers are promising adsorbents for the selective removal of Pb²⁺ from Pb²⁺/Cu²⁺ mixed aqueous solution, and can be applied to separate and recover the heavy metal ions from contaminated water and waste chemicals. In addition, Tsukamoto et al. [4] has synthesized novel sulfobetaine-type adsorbents and characteristics of their adsorption of polar solutes in hydrophilic SPE. The results indicate that all ionic reference solutes such as nucleobases (uracil, adenine and cytosine), acids (acephate and levulinic acid) and zwitterions (tetracyclines) were entrapped and released by the adsorbent. However, it showed almost no adsorption of non-ionic polar solutes such as saccharides, which are highly soluble in water.

1.3. Objective and outline of this thesis

To describe clearly this study, the thesis is broken down into six chapters. These chapters are brief outlined as follows.

Chapter 1 is "<u>Introduction</u>". The background, previous research, and main objectives of the thesis are discussed.

Chapter 2 is "Effects of preparation condition of DMAAPS gel on ion-adsorption properties and swelling behavior". In the second chapter, the adsorption of cations and anions on the sulfobetaine type N,N-dimethyl(acrylamidopropyl)ammonium propanesulfonate (DMAAPS) gels in NaNO₃, Zn(NO₃)₂, and Al(NO₃)₃ solutions was investigated. Furthermore, the effect of the preparation conditions such as cross-linker and monomer concentrations on the adsorption and swelling behaviors of the gel in Zn(NO₃)₂ solution was investigated under various temperatures and nitrate concentrations. The adsorption behavior of cations and anions on the DMAAPS gel is discussed herein by considering the degree of swelling of the gel as well as the polymer concentration in the gel. An interesting correlation between the degree of swelling of the gel and the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the gel was found; the data points laid on the same line even at different cross-linker and/or monomer concentrations or temperatures when the Zn(NO₃)₂ concentration was the same. In addition, to elucidate the role of the ionic interactions in the adsorption behavior of the DMAAPS gel relative to the copolymer gel, the gel comprising a negatively charged sodium 2-(acrylamido)-2methylpropanesulfonate (NaAMPS) and a positively charged N,N-dimethylaminopropylacrylamide methyl chloride quaternary (DMAPAA-Q) unit was also prepared. The DMAPAA-Q-co-NaAMPS gel network also consists of N⁺ and SO₃⁻ groups. However, these ions have Cl⁻ and Na⁺ as counter ions, respectively.

Chapter 3 is "<u>Cation- and anion-adsorption properties of DMAAPS gel and its</u> relationship with swelling behavior in aqueous salt solutions". In this chapter, the influences of cation and anion species on the adsorption and swelling behaviors of DMAAPS gel and their relationship were evaluated using halides and aqueous salt solutions. It was observed that the order of the amount of ion adsorbed onto the gel in the aqueous salt solutions was opposite that of ion species in the Hofmeister series. In addition, to elucidate competitive adsorption, the adsorption behavior of ions onto the DMAAPS gel was studied in mixtures of the halide solutions.

Chapter 4 is "<u>Phase transition of poly(DMAAPS) and its relationship with cation- and anion-adsorption properties of DMAAPS gel in aqueous salt solutions</u>". The phase transition of poly(DMAAPS) was investigated in aqueous salt solutions. Furthermore, the relationship between the transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) and the maximum amount of ion adsorbed onto the gel in various solutions were also studied. It was found that the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) initially increased with increasing the salt concentration in the solution, and then decreased as the concentration of salt increased further. Furthermore, the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) initially increased and then decreased as the maximum amount of ion adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel increased, which depend on the ion species and ion concentration.

Chapter 5 is "<u>Comparison between DMAAPS and DMAABS polymers and gels on ion-adsorption, swelling, and transition behaviors</u>". In this chapter, the influences of number of methylene spacer between the charged groups of betaine on the adsorption and swelling behaviors of DMAAPS and DMAABS gels were investigated using Zn(NO₃)₂ and NaNO₃ solutions. In addition, the effects of the contact time, the heating rate, the salt solution concentration and anion and cation species in the solutions on the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) were also elucidated. From the comparison of the adsorption properties, swelling behavior, and transition behavior between DMAAPS and DMAABS gels and/or polymers, the results suggest that the interaction of positive and negative charged groups in the DMAABS is stronger than that in the DMAAPS.

Chapter 6 is "<u>Conclusions</u>". The conclusions in this study are given and some insights provided by this study are presented.

1.4. References

- [1] Liu J, Ma Y, Xu T, Shao G. J Hazard Mater 2010;178:1021–9.
- [2] Ladd J, Zhang Z, Chen S, Hower JC, Jiang S. Biomacromolecules 2008;9:1357–61.
- [3] Kato T, Kawaguchi M, Takahashi A, Onabe T, Tanaka H. Langmuir 1999;15:4302–5.
- [4] Tsukamoto T, Yamamoto A, Kamichatani W, Inoue Y. Chromatographia 2009;70:1525–30.
- [5] Kitano H, Imai M, Sudo K, Ide M. J Phys Chem B 2002;106:11391–6.
- [6] Lee WF, Tu YM. J Appl Polym Sci 1999;72:1221–32.
- [7] Kitano H, Nagaoka K, Tada S, Gemmei-Ide M. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2007;313:461–8.
- [8] Mori M, Hu W, Hasebe K, Tanaka S, Tanaka K. Anal Bioanal Chem 2002;374:75–9.
- [9] Cheng G, Li G, Xue H, Chen S, Bryers JD, Jiang S. Biomaterials 2009;30:5234–40.
- [10] Zhang Z, Chao T, Chen S, Jiang S. Langmuir 2006;22:10072–7.
- [11] Kitano H, Tada S, Mori T, Takaha K, Gemmei-Ide M, Tanaka M, Fukuda M, Yokoyama Y. Langmuir 2005;21:11932–40.
- [12] Neagu V, Vasiliu S, Racovita S. Chem Eng J 2010;162:965–73.
- [13] Nesterenko PN, Elefterov AI, Tarasenko DA, Shpigun OA. J Chromatogr A 1995;706:59–68.
- [14] Nesterenko EP, Nesterenko PN, Paull B. Anal Chim Acta 2009;652:3–21.
- [15] Kudaibergenov SE, Jaeger W, Laschewsky A. Adv Polym Sci 2006;201:157–224.
- [16] Kudaibergenov SE. Polyampholytes, In: Encyclopedia of polymer science and technology, New York: John Wiley Interscience, 2008.
- [17] Salamone JC, Volksen W, Olson AP, Israel SC. Polymer 1978;19:1157–62.
- [18] Takahashi A, Hamai K, Okada Y, Sakohara S. Polymer 2011;52:3791-9.
- [19] Lee WF, Tsai CC. J Appl Polym Sci 1994;52:1447–58.
- [20] Lee WF, Tsai CC. Polymer 1995;36:357–64.
- [21] Schmuck C. J Org Chem 2000;65:2432–7.

- [22] Ning J, Kubota K, Li G, Haraguchi K. React Funct Polym 2013;73:969–78.
- [23] Saraydin EKD, Guven O. Turk J Chem 1997;21:151–61.
- [24] Huglin MB, Rego JM. Polymer 1991;32:3354–58.
- [25] Kabiri K, Faraji-Dana S, Zohuriaan-Mehr MJ. Polym Advan Technol 2005;16:659-66.
- [26] Zhang Y-Q, Tanaka T, Shibayama M. Nature 1992;360:142–4.
- [27] Lee WF, Yeh PL. J Appl Polym Sci 1999;74:2170-80.
- [28] Wielema TA, Engberts JB. Eur Polym J 1990;26:639–42.
- [29] Kabiri K, Zohuriaan-Mehr M, Mirzadeh H, Kheirabadi M. J Polym Res 2010;17:203–12.
- [30] Kathmann EE, White LA, McCormick CL. Polymer 1997;38:879-86.
- [31] Kathmann EE, McCormick CL. J Polym Sci A Polym Chem 1997;35:243-53.
- [32] Kathmann EE, McCormick CL. J Polym Sci Part A Polym Chem 1997;35:231-42.
- [33] Bonte N, Laschewsky A. Polymer 1996;37:2011–9.
- [34] Gauthier M, Carrozzella T, Snell G. J Polym Sci B Poly Phys 2002;40:2303–12.
- [35] Bieglé A, Mathis A, Meurer B, Galin JC. Macromol Chem Phys 2000;201:2401-7.
- [36] Nakaya T, Li YJ. Prog Polym Sci 1999;24:143–81.
- [37] Nam KW, Watanabe J, Ishihara K. Biomacromolecules 2002;3:100-5.
- [38] Kiritoshi Y, Ishihara K. Polymer 2004;45:7499–504.
- [39] Wang Y, Chen T, Kuriu A, Li Y, Nakaya T. J Appl Polym Sci 1997;64:1403-9.
- [40] Favresse P, Laschewsky A. Polymer 2001;42:2755–66.
- [41] Tsukruk V, Mischenko N, Köberle P, Laschewsky A. Macromol Chem Phys 1992;193:1829–38.
- [42] Köberle P, Laschewsky A. Macromolecules 1994;27:2165–73.
- [43] Azzaroni O, Brown AA, Huck WT. Angewandte Chemie 2006;118:1802-6.
- [44] Lowe AB, McCormick CL. Chem Rev 2002;102:4177–90.
- [45] Mary P, Bendejacq DD, Labeau MP, Dupuis P. J Phys Chem B 2007;111:7767–77.
- [46] Shih YJ, Chang Y. Langmuir 2010;26:17286–94.

- [47] Schulz DN, Peiffer DG, Agarwal PK, Larabee J, Kaladas JJ, Soni L, Handwerker B, Garner RT. Polymer 1986;27:1734–42.
- [48] Chen L, Honma Y, Mizutani T, Liaw DJ, Gong JP, Osada Y. Polym Gels Netw 2000;41:141–7.
- [49] Chang Y, Chen WY, Yandi W, Shih YJ, Chu WL, Liu YL, Chu CW, Ruaan RC, Higuchi A. Biomacromolecules 2009;10:2092–100.
- [50] Chen L, Gong J,Osada Y. Macromol Rapid Commun 2002;23:171-4.
- [51] Arotçaréna M, Heise B, Ishaya S, Laschewsky A. J Am Chem Soc 2002;124:3787–93.
- [52] Virtanen J, Arotçaréna M, Heise B, Ishaya S, Laschewsky A, Tenhu H. Langmuir 2002;18:5360–5.
- [53] Ravi P, Dai S, Tam KC. J Phys Chem B 2005;109:22791-8.
- [54] Lee WF, Yeh PL. J Appl Polym Sci 1997;66:499–507.
- [55] Osada Y, Gong JP. Adv Mater 1998;10:827–37.
- [56] Murdan S. J Controlled Release 2003;92:1–17.
- [57] Bohidar HB, Dubin P, Osada Y, Osade Y. In: Polymer gels: fundamentals and applications, Washington DC: American Chemical Society; 2003.
- [58] Han D, Letteri R, Chan-Seng D, Emrick T, Tu H. Polymer 2013;54:2887-94.
- [59] Lee WF, Chiu RJ. J Polym Res 2002;9:141–9.

Chapter 2

Effects of preparation condition of DMAAPS gel on ion-adsorption properties and swelling behavior

2.1. Introduction

In this Chapter, the adsorption of cations and anions on the sulfobetaine type *N*,*N*-dimethyl(acrylamidopropyl)ammonium propanesulfonate (DMAAPS) gels in nitrate solutions was investigated. The adsorption behavior is recognized to affect the behaviors of swelling and transition by temperature change. Moreover, there is very little information on the effects of the conditions utilized in the preparation of the gels, such as the cross-linker and monomer concentrations, on the amount of ions adsorbed onto the gel. Therefore, the effects of the temperature and the conditions employed in the preparation of the DMAAPS gel on the adsorption were evaluated. The adsorption behavior is discussed herein in relation to the degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel as well as the polymer concentration in the gel. NaNO₃, Zn(NO₃)₂, and Al(NO₃)₃ were selected as the target solutions.

In addition, to elucidate the role of the ionic interactions between the charged network in the DMAAPS gel and ions in the solution in the adsorption behavior, the copolymer gel comprising a negatively charged sodium 2-(acrylamido)-2-methylpropanesulfonate (NaAMPS) and a positively charged *N*,*N*-dimethylaminopropylacrylamide methyl chloride quaternary (DMAPAA-Q) was also prepared. The DMAPAA-Q-*co*-NaAMPS gel network also consists of N⁺ and SO₃⁻ groups. However, these ions have Cl⁻ and Na⁺ as counter ions, respectively. The adsorption behavior of the cations and anions by the DMAPAA-Q-*co*-NaAMPS gel was compared with that by the DMAAPS gel.

2.2. Experimental Section

2.2.1. Materials

1,3-Propanesultone (PS) and 2-(acrylamido)-2-methylpropanesulfonate (AMPS) were purchased from Tokyo Chemical Industry Co., Ltd. and used as received. *N*,*N*-Dimethylaminopropylacrylamide (DMAPAA) and DMAPAA-Q were kindly supplied by KJ Chemicals corp. DMAPAA was purified by vacuum distillation and DMAPAA-Q was used as received. *N*,*N'*-Methylenebisacrylamide (MBAA), *N*,*N*,*N'*,*N'*-tetramethylethylene-diamine (TEMED), and ammonium peroxodisulfate (APS) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Co. (USA) and used without further purification. Acetonitrile and acetone were purchased from Kanto Chemical Co., Inc. and Nacalai Tesque, Inc., respectively.

2.2.2. Synthesis of DMAAPS

DMAAPS was synthesized by the ring-opening reaction of DMAPAA and PS [1]. A mixture of PS (75 g) and acetonitrile (75 g) was added dropwise to a mixture of DMAPAA (100 g) and acetonitrile (200 g) with continuous stirring at 30 °C for 90 min. Stirring was then continued for 16 h, and the solution was allowed to stand for 2 d. The precipitated white crystals of DMAAPS were collected by filtration and washed with 500 mL of acetone. Finally, the obtained DMAAPS crystals were dried under reduced pressure for 24 h. The structure of DMAAPS is shown in Fig. 2–1.

CH2 – CH CH3

$$|$$
 CONH – (CH2)3 – N⁺– (CH2)3 – SO3⁻
 $|$ CH3

Fig. 2–1 Chemical structure of *N*,*N*-dimethyl(acrylamidopropyl)ammonium propane sulfonate (DMAAPS).

2.2.3. Preparation of the DMAAPS gel

The DMAAPS gel was prepared by free radical polymerization using TEMED, APS, and MBAA as the polymerization accelerator, initiator, and cross-linker, respectively. In the preparation of the DMAAPS gel, the concentrations of TEMED and APS were fixed and those of DMAAPS and MBAA were varied. DMAAPS, MBAA, and TEMED were dissolved in 100 mL of deionized water and charged into a separable flask. The dissolved oxygen in the solution was removed by purging with nitrogen. A 20 mL aliquot of APS solution, from which the dissolved oxygen had already been removed, was then added to the mixture. Polymerization was carried out for 6 h at 50 °C under a nitrogen atmosphere. The synthesis of the DMAAPS gels was carried out in a separable flask containing glass tubes (2 mm in diameter and 30 mm in length) to prepare the cylindrical gels. The gels prepared in the glass tubes were cut into pieces of 2 mm in length and rinsed with deionized water. The gels were then slowly dried over several days. During the drying process, the gels were placed on a Teflon sheet that was spread on a Petri dish. Because the gels break if they are dried quickly, the dish was covered with a thin plastic film with small holes to decrease the drying speed. These gels were used to measure the degree of swelling. Other gels were cut into small pieces, washed, and then dried in an oven. The dried small gels were then ground into powder and sieved to over 180 mesh size. These ground gels were used for the adsorption experiments. The compositions employed in the synthesis of the DMAAPS gels are summarized in Table 2-1.

		concentration [mol/m ³]
Monomer	: <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -dimethyl(acrylamidopropyl)ammonium propane sulfonate (DMAAPS)	500, 750, 1000
Linker	: <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> '-methylenebisacrylamide (MBAA)	5, 10, 30
Accelerator	: <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> ', <i>N</i> '-tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED)	10
Initiator	: Ammonium peroxodisulfate (APS)	0.5

Table 2–1 Synthesis composition of DMAAPS gel.

2.2.4. Preparation of the copolymer gel of NaAMPS and DMAPAA-Q

The chemical structures of DMAPAA-Q and NaAMPS are shown in Fig. 2–2. NaAMPS was prepared by neutralization of its acid form, AMPS, with an equimolar amount of sodium hydroxide (NaOH) in methanol in the same manner as outlined by Teramoto et al. [2]. In the preparation of the copolymer gel, the concentrations of DMAPAA-Q, NaAMPS, MBAA, TEMED, and APS were 500, 500, 30, 10, and 0.5 mmol/L, respectively. The method used for preparation of the gel is similar to that used for the DMAAPS gel.



Fig. 2–2 Chemical structures of *N*,*N*-dimethylaminopropylacrylamide methyl chloride quaternary (DMAPAA-Q) and sodium 2-(acrylamido)-2-methylpropane-sulfonate (NaAMPS).

2.2.5. Measurement of the amount of cation and anion adsorbed on the gel

The adsorption experiments were performed using nitrate solutions, i.e., NaNO₃, $Zn(NO_3)_2$, and $Al(NO_3)_3$ solutions. One gram of the ground gel was placed in a glass bottle containing 20 mL of the selected nitrate solution of the desired concentration. The bottle was placed in a water bath at the desired temperature, and the solution containing the gels was gently agitated for a desired period using a magnetic stirrer to allow the gels to swell and attain the equilibrium adsorption state. In order to measure the concentration of the cation

 $(Na^+, Zn^{2+}, or Al^{3+})$ or anion (NO_3^-) in the solution after adsorption, the gels were removed from the solution by centrifugation at 3500 rpm for 10 min and subsequently filtered using a syringe filter (0.45 µm, Toyo Roshi Kaisha, Ltd.). The amount of cation or anion adsorbed onto the gel was calculated from the concentration difference of cation or anion between in the initial solution and in the solution after adsorption by using the following equation:

$$Q = \frac{(C_0 - C)V}{m} \tag{1}$$

where Q is the amount of cation or anion adsorbed, C_0 is the concentration of cation or anion in the initial solution, C is the concentration of cation or anion in the solution after adsorption for a certain period, V is the volume of the solution, and m is the weight of the dry ground gels.

The concentrations of Na⁺, Zn²⁺, and NO₃⁻ were measured using ion chromatography. The Na⁺ and Zn²⁺ assay was carried out using a 4.6 mm (ID) × 100 mm (L) TSKgel IC-Cation 1/2 HR column (Tosoh Corp.) with 2 mmol/L HNO₃ as the mobile phase. The NO₃⁻ concentration was determined using a 4.6 mm (ID) × 100 mm (L) Shim-pac IC-A1column (Shimadzu Corp.) with 2.5 mmol/L phthalic acid as the mobile phase, and the Al³⁺ concentration was determined by using inductively coupled plasma (ICP) atomic emission spectrometry (Seiko Instruments Inc. SPS. 3000).

2.2.6. Measurement of the degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel

The degree of swelling was determined according to the following procedures. The cylindrical dry gel, the diameter of which was predetermined using a cathetometer, was immersed in water or nitrate solution at 70 °C, and the gel was allowed to swell for 24 h; this time was sufficient for the gel to reach its equilibrium swollen state. The diameter of the swollen gel was then measured with a cathetometer. The temperature was reduced stepwise and the diameter of the swollen gel was measured again. This procedure was repeated until the temperature was reduced to 10 °C. The degree of swelling, *SD*, was defined by the following equation:

$$SD = \frac{d_{swell}^{3}}{d_{dw}^{3}}$$
(2)

where d_{swell} and d_{dry} respectively indicate the diameter of swollen gel and dry gel.

2.3. Results and discussion

2.3.1. Time dependence of adsorption of ion onto the DMAAPS gel

Fig. 2–3 shows the time course of the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel at 50 °C, which was measured in the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution at the initial concentration of 5 mmol/L. The adsorbed amount increased proportional to the time within the first 6 h followed by a much slower rate, and the adsorption ultimately achieved equilibrium at about 8 h. This result leads to the conclusion that 12 h of contact time is enough to reach the equilibrium adsorption and was further used in investigating the amount of ions adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel.



Fig. 2–3 Time dependence of the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel at 50 °C in 5 mmol/L Zn(NO₃)₂ solution.

2.3.2. Simultaneous adsorption of cation and anion onto the DMAAPS gel

To gain insight into the process of simultaneous adsorption of the cation and anion onto the DMAAPS gel, adsorption experiments were conducted using NaNO₃, Zn(NO₃)₂, and Al(NO₃)₃ solutions. The amounts of cation (Na⁺, Zn²⁺, and Al³⁺) and anion (NO₃⁻) adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel in these nitrate solutions of various concentrations at 50 °C are shown in Figs. 2–4(a), (b), and (c), respectively. The cation and anion were both adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel, and the amount of each ion adsorbed increased as the concentration of ion in the solution increased. In the case of the NaNO₃ solution (Fig. 2–4(a)), the amounts of Na⁺ and NO₃⁻ adsorbed, expressed in units of [mmol/g-dry gel], were almost the same. In the case of the Zn(NO₃)₂ solution (Fig. 2–4(b)), the amount of NO₃⁻ adsorbed was larger than that of Zn²⁺. Furthermore, in the case of the Al(NO₃)₃ solution, the amount of NO₃⁻ adsorbed was markedly higher than that of Al³⁺ (Fig. 2–4(c)). The observed order of adsorption amount was as follow: NaNO₃ < Zn(NO₃)₂ < Al(NO₃)₃. This order can be explained by the fact that the fixed ionic groups of the DMAAPS gel interact more strongly with ions having higher valence [3].



Fig. 2–4 Amounts of the cation and anion adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel in (a) NaNO₃ solution, (b) $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution, and (c) $Al(NO_3)_3$ of various concentrations.

Fig. 2–5 shows the relationship between the amount of cation and anion adsorbed. The amount of cation adsorbed is proportional to that of anion adsorbed for each nitrate solution, and the slopes of the plots are inversely proportional to the valence of the cation. This result implies that the cation and anion are simultaneously adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel. Therefore, the amount of anion adsorbed can be simply determined by that of cation adsorbed, or vice-versa.



Fig. 2–5 Relationship between the amounts of the cations $(Na^+, Zn^{2+}, and Al^{3+})$ and anion (NO_3^-) adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel in NaNO₃, $Zn(NO_3)_2$, and $Al(NO_3)_3$ solutions of various concentrations.

2.3.3. Ion exchange adsorption of anion and cation onto the copolymer gel of NaAMPS and DMAPAA-Q

The adsorption behavior of the DMAAPS gel in the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution was compared with that of the DMAPAA-Q-*co*-NaAMPS gel in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ and $Al(NO_3)_3$ solutions. Fig. 2– 6(a) shows the amount of Zn^{2+} and NO_3^- adsorbed as a function of the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ equilibrium concentrations and Fig. 2–6(b) shows the amount of Al^{3+} and NO_3^- adsorbed as a function of the $Al(NO_3)_3$ equilibrium concentrations. The amount of Zn^{2+} and Al^{3+} adsorbed increased significantly, as the concentration of Zn(NO₃) or Al(NO₃)₃ increased, and reached a constant value at higher concentration. On the other hand, the adsorption of NO₃⁻ was insignificant. These results imply that the adsorption of Zn²⁺ and Al³⁺ on the copolymer gel occurs by ion exchange with Na⁺, which is the counter ion of SO₃⁻ in the NaAMPS groups in the copolymer gel. However, ion exchange between NO₃⁻ and Cl⁻, which is the counter ion of N⁺ in the DMAPAA-Q groups in the copolymer gel, hardly occurs. Thus, the amount of Na⁺ released due to ion exchange was also measured, and the results are presented in Fig. 2–6 along with the amount of NO₃⁻ and Zn²⁺ or Al³⁺ adsorbed. The amount of Na⁺ released was almost twice or three times higher than that of Zn²⁺ or Al³⁺ adsorbed, respectively. Figs. 2–4(b-c) and 6(a-b) illustrate that the amount of Zn²⁺ or Al³⁺ adsorbed onto the copolymer gel was larger than that adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel at the same equilibrium concentration. These results are attributed to the fact that the adsorption of Zn²⁺ and Al³⁺ onto the copolymer gel occurs via ion-exchange with Na⁺, whereas that on the DMAAPS gel is controlled not only by the affinity between Zn²⁺ or Al³⁺ and SO₃⁻ but also the affinity between NO₃⁻ and N⁺ in the DMAAPS gel due to the simultaneous adsorption of Zn⁺ or Al³⁺ and NO₃⁻.



Fig. 2–6 Adsorbed amount of Zn^{2+} , Al^{3+} and NO_3^- onto the DMAPAA-Q-*co*-NaAMPS gel and released amount of Na⁺ from the DMAPAA-Q-*co*-NaAMPS gel in (a) $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution and (b) $Al(NO_3)_3$ solution of various concentrations.

2.3.4. Adsorption and swelling behaviors of the DMAAPS gel prepared by various crosslinker concentrations

Fig. 2–7(a) shows the effect of the concentration of cross-linker used in the preparation of the DMAAPS gel on the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solutions of various concentrations at 50 °C. The gels were prepared at three different cross-linker concentrations, i.e., 5, 10, and 30 mmol/L. The amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed increased significantly as the concentration of $Zn(NO_3)_2$ increased, and the use of a higher cross-linker concentration also led to increase the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed.

The swelling properties of the gels in Zn(NO₃)₂ solutions of various concentrations were also examined. Fig. 2-7(b) shows the degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel measured at 50 °C. The degree of swelling of the gel prepared at a cross-linker concentration of 30 mmol/L increased gradually as the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ concentration increased, although this increase was not significant. Reducing the cross-linker concentration to 5 mmol/L increased the degree of swelling significantly. For polyzwitterionic betaine gel synthesized at higher cross-linker concentration, the electroneutrality of the charge groups results from the intra-group ionic pairs formation [4]. Furthermore, an increase of the cross-linker concentration increases the polymer concentration in the gel, in other words, increases the network density in the gel. As the swelling degree of DMAAPS gel is small enough, the polymer network of DMAAPS gel become close to each other and the distance between sulfonate groups decreases. This condition promotes the formation of cation bridges between two neighboring sulfonate groups; thereby increasing adsorption of Zn^{2+} ions from the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution on the DMAAPS gel. In contrast, decreasing the cross-linker concentration reduces the polymer concentration in the gel. In addition, at equilibrium swelling the polymer network of DMAAPS gel expands largely and eventually increases the distance between the sulfonate groups. The reduction in the amount of Zn²⁺ adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel indicates the weakening of the interaction between SO_3^- groups of the DMAAPS gel and the Zn^{2+} from the
$Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution due to the expansion of the gel network.



Fig. 2–7 (a) Amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and (b) the degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solutions of various concentrations at 50 °C. The gels were prepared at three different cross-linker concentrations.

It is well known that the DMAAPS gel exhibits thermosensitive properties [5,6]. Thus, the ability of DMAAPS gel to adsorb Zn^{2+} in 10 mmol/L $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution was studied by conducting different sets of experiments at various temperatures. Fig. 2–8(a) shows the effect of varying the temperature on the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel prepared at three different cross-linker concentrations, i.e., 5, 10, and 30 mmol/L. At 10 °C, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto these gels was almost the same. At a low cross-linker concentration of 5 mmol/L, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the gel decreased significantly as the temperature increased from 10 to 70 °C. In contrast, at 10 mmol/L of cross-linker concentration, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed decreased gradually. Furthermore, at a higher cross-linker concentration of 30 mmol/L, there was no significant change in the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed at temperatures in the range of 10–70 °C. This phenomenon can be explained as follows. For the DMAAPS gel synthesized at lower cross-linker concentration, at equilibrium swelling the polymer network of the gel expanded largely. This implies that the distance between the

neighboring sulfonate groups of DMAAPS is far enough. Moreover, the thermal motion weakens the interaction between the charged groups in the DMAAPS gel and the Zn^{2+} and NO_3^- ions from the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution. As a result, the adsorbed amount of Zn^{2+} decreased with increasing temperature, particularly for the gel synthesized at lower cross-linker concentrations.



Fig. 2–8 (a) Amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and (b) degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel in 10 mmol/L $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution at various temperatures. The gels were prepared at three different cross-linker concentrations.

The effect of temperature on the swelling properties of the gels in 10 mmol/L $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution was also examined and shown in Fig. 2–8(b). The gel prepared at a lower cross-linker concentration (5 mmol/L) swelled significantly with increasing temperature. However, the degree of swelling of the gel prepared at a higher cross-linker concentration (30 mmol/L) increased only slightly with increasing temperature.

2.3.5. Adsorption and swelling behaviors of the DMAAPS gel prepared by various monomer concentrations

Fig. 2–9(a) shows the effect of the concentration of the DMAAPS monomer used in the preparation of the gel on the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solutions of various concentrations. The gels were prepared at three different monomer concentrations, i.e., 500, 750, and 1000 mmol/L, at a fixed cross-linker concentration of 30 mmol/L. The amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed increased with increasing $Zn(NO_3)_2$ concentration. Furthermore, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel prepared at a higher monomer concentration was larger than that prepared at a lower monomer concentration. The swelling behavior of these gels is shown in Fig. 2–9(b). The gel prepared at a lower monomer concentration can swell to a greater extent than that prepared at a higher monomer concentration.



Fig. 2–9 (a) Amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and (b) degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solutions of various concentrations at 50 °C. The gels were prepared at three different monomer concentrations.

Fig. 2–10(a) shows the effect of temperature on the gels at a $Zn(NO_3)_2$ concentration of 10 mmol/L. At 10 °C, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the gels was almost the same. The

amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed decreased slightly as the temperature increased from 10 to 70 °C when the gels that were prepared at monomer concentrations of 500 and 750 mmol/L were immersed in the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution. Moreover, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed remained unchanged in the case of the gel prepared at a higher monomer concentration of 1000 mmol/L, as shown previously in Fig. 2–8(a). In addition, the degree of swelling of these gels increased with increasing temperature and was significant for the gel prepared at a lower monomer concentration, i.e., 500 mmol/L, as shown in Fig 2–10(b).



Fig. 2–10 (a) Amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and (b) degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel in 10 mmol/L $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution at various temperatures. The gels were prepared at three different monomer concentrations.

2.3.6. The relationship between the adsorption and swelling behaviours

The relationship between the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed and the degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gels prepared at three different cross-linker concentrations, i.e., 5, 10, and 30 mmol/L, measured at various temperatures, i.e., 10, 30, 50, and 70 °C, and in various concentrations of $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solutions, i.e., 2.5, 5, 7.5, and 10 mmol/L, is summarized in Fig. 2–11(a). The data reveal an interesting correlation; the data points laid on the same line even

at different cross-linker concentrations or temperatures when the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ concentration was the same. Furthermore, when the degree of swelling was lower, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed remained unchanged and decreased gradually at a higher degree of swelling. The line depended on the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ concentration, and at the same degree of swelling, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed increased as the concentration of $Zn(NO_3)_2$ increased.

In addition, the relationship between the amount of Zn^{2+} absorbed and the degree of swelling was considered by converting the degree of swelling to the polymer concentration in the gel, which could be calculated using the following equation:

$$C_p = \frac{W_0}{V_0} \times \frac{1}{SD}$$
(3)

where C_p is the concentration of the polymer in the gel, W_0 is the weight of the dry sample gels, and V_0 is the volume of the dry sample gels.

Fig. 2–11(b) shows the relationship between the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and the concentration of polymer in the gel. When the concentration of polymer in the gel was lower, i.e., at a higher degree of swelling, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed increased with increasing polymer concentration. In contrast, when the concentration of polymer in the gel was higher than about 180 g/L, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed remained unchanged with increasing polymer concentration. This implies that the number of charged groups in the DMAAPS gel that are available to interact with the ions in the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution does not increase. A similar trend was also observed for each solution irrespective of the concentration.

This behavior can be explained as follows. At higher polymer concentration in the gel, which is observed at lower temperature and higher cross-linker concentration, the interaction is dominated by intra-group ionic pairs [4]. Because the interaction between the SO_3^- and N^+ groups of the DMAAPS gel that forms an intra-group ionic pairing is quite strong, only a part of the charged groups in the DMAAPS gel interacts with Zn^{2+} and NO_3^- in the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution; in other words, the amount of ions adsorbed by the DMAAPS gel is limited. In

contrast, at lower polymer concentration in the gel, which is observed at higher temperature and lower cross-linker concentration, the thermal motion weakens the interaction between the N^+ and SO_3^- groups of DMAAPS. The breakages of associations caused by temperature increase is already observed for sulfobetaine hydrogel [7] and sulfobetaine polymer solids [8]. Simultaneously, the thermal motion also weakens the ionic pairings force between the charged groups in the DMAAPS gel and the Zn^{2+} and NO_3^- ions from the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution. These phenomena reduce the adsorption of ions from the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution onto the DMAAPS gel, thereby decreasing the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the gel.



Fig. 2–11 Relationship between the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and (a) the degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel and (b) the polymer concentration in the gel. The gels were prepared at three different cross-linker concentrations; the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed and the degree of swelling were measured in the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solutions of various concentrations (2.5, 5, 7.5, and 10 mmol/L) and at various temperatures (10, 30, 50, and 70 °C).

The constant amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel was regarded as the maximum adsorption amount of Zn^{2+} . In the case of adsorption behavior of the DMAAPS gel

in $Zn(NO_3)_2$, maximum amount of Zn^{2+} ion adsorbed was reached when the concentration of polymer in the gel was higher than about 180 g/L despite variation of the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ and cross-linker concentration. Fig. 2–12 shows the relationship between the maximum amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and $Zn(NO_3)_2$ equilibrium concentrations. It is seen that the maximum adsorption amount increased linearly with equilibrium concentration of Zn^{2+} in the experimental range. The value of maximum adsorption amount can be obtained by the following equation:

$$Q_{max} = 0.0039 \ C_e$$
 (4)

where Q_{max} is maximum amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and C_e is the equilibrium concentration of Zn^{2+} .



Fig. 2–12 Relationship between the maximum amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and $Zn(NO_3)_2$ equilibrium concentrations.

The relationship between the degree of swelling and the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the gels prepared at three different monomer concentrations was also examined (Fig. 2– 13(a)); the Zn(NO₃)₂ concentration was 10 mmol/L. A similar correlation was found despite variation of the monomer concentration used in the preparation of the gel. The correlation between the polymer concentration and the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed is shown in Fig. 2–13(b). These results were similar to those described in Fig. 2–11, regardless of the monomer concentration. The amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed increased with increasing polymer concentration when the polymer concentration in the gel was lower. Furthermore, at a polymer concentration higher than about 180 g/L, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed remained unchanged with increasing polymer concentration.



Fig. 2–13 Relationship between the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and (a) the degree of swelling, and (b) the polymer concentration in the gel. The gels were prepared at three different monomer concentrations; the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed and the degree of swelling were measured in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solutions of various concentrations and at various temperatures.

2.4. Summary

The adsorption of cations and anions on DMAAPS gel was investigated using NaNO₃, $Zn(NO_3)_2$, and $Al(NO_3)_3$ solutions. Cations and anions were simultaneously adsorbed from the nitrate solutions by the DMAAPS gel. The adsorbed amount of cation (Na⁺, Zn²⁺, or Al³⁺)

was proportional to that of anion (NO_3^-) and the slope was inversely proportional to the valence of the cation. Furthermore, the adsorbed amount increased with increasing valence of the cations. The amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel was compared with that on the copolymer gel of DMAPAA-Q-*co*-NaAMPS that also possesses SO_3^- and N^+ groups. The amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the copolymer gel by the ion exchange was larger than that adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel.

The amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel increased as the concentration of cross-linker and monomer used in the preparation of the gel increased. Furthermore, for the gel prepared at a higher cross-linker or monomer concentration, increasing the temperature did not cause any significant change in the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel. In contrast, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed decreased significantly with elevation of the temperature for the gel prepared at a lower cross-linker or monomer concentration.

In addition, an interesting correlation between the degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel and the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the gel was observed. The data points laid on the same line even at different cross-linker concentrations or temperatures when the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ concentration was the same. Furthermore, for the gel with a low degree of swelling, i.e., when the polymer concentration in the gel was higher than about 180 g/L, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed remained unchanged. In contrast, when the gel exhibited a high degree of swelling, i.e., when there was a lower polymer concentration in the gel, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed decreased as the swelling degree increased. At the same swelling degree, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed increased as the concentration of $Zn(NO_3)_2$ increased. Moreover, the adsorbed amount of Zn^{2+} observed at above 180 g/L of polymer concentration was regarded as the maximum amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel, and the value can be evaluated by the Eq. (4) as the equilibrium concentration of Zn^{2+} in the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution.

2.5. References

- [1] Lee WF, Tsai CC. Polymer 1994;35:2210-7.
- [2] Teramoto K, Kimata S, Harada T, Chuman M, Sakohara S. Chem Eng J 2013;236:490-7.
- [3] Lee WF, Tsai CC. Polymer 1995;36:357-64.
- [4] Georgiev GS, Mincheva ZP, Georgieva VT. Macromol Symp 2001;164:301-12.
- [5] Ning J, Kubota K, Li G, Haraguchi K. React Funct Polym 2013;73:969–78.
- [6] Ning J, Li G, Haraguchi K. Macromol Chem Phys 2014;215:235–44.
- [7] Das M, Sanson N, Kumacheva E. Chem Mater 2008;20:7157–63.
- [8] Gauthier M, Carrozzella T, Penlidis A. J Polym Sci A Polym Chem 2002;40:511–23.

Chapter 3

Cation- and anion-adsorption properties of DMAAPS gel and its relationship with swelling behavior in aqueous salt solutions

3.1. Introduction

In the present chapter the effect of the anion and cation species on the amount of ions adsorbed onto DMAAPS gel was studied. Furthermore, the relationship with its swelling degree or polymer concentration in the gel was also examined using solutions of halides, i.e., KF, KCl, KBr, KI and ZnCl₂, ZnSO₄ solutions. These halide solutions were chosen because the halide anions in these solutions have different hydration abilities and sizes that may affect their interaction with the charged groups of DMAAPS. These halide anions have been ordered in the Hofmeister series. Moreover the effect of the cation species on the amount of ions adsorbed onto DMAAPS gel and the relationship with its swelling degree or polymer concentration in the gel was examined using Zn(NO₃)₂, Mg(NO₃)₂, and Ca(NO₃)₂ solutions.

The purpose of the present study is to evaluate the influence of these anion and cation species on the adsorption behavior onto DMAAPS gel and the swelling behavior of DMAAPS gel in these solutions and their relationship. In addition, to elucidate competitive adsorption, the adsorption behavior of ions onto the DMAAPS gel was studied in mixtures of these halide solutions.

3.2. Experimental Section

The preparation DMAAPS gel was the same as those described previously in Chapter 2. The concentrations of DMAAPS, TEMED, and APS were 1000, 10, and 0.5 mmol/L, respectively. The swelling degree of the DMAAPS gel was measured using a reported procedure [1]. Ion-adsorption experiments were also performed using the same procedure described in the previous Chapter 2, except that the cation (K⁺) and anion (F⁻, Cl⁻, Br⁻, and Γ) concentrations were measured using ion chromatography using a SUS TSKgel Super IC-A/C (Tosoh Corp.) column (6.0 mm I.D × 150 mm) with a solution containing 6.0 mmol/L 18-crown-6 ether, 0.45 mmol/L 5-sulfosalicylic acid, 5.0 mmol/L L-tartaric acid, and 5% acetonitrile as the mobile phase. The Zn²⁺, Mg²⁺, and Ca²⁺ assay was carried out using a 4.6 mm (ID) × 100 mm (L) TSKgel IC-Cation 1/2 HR column (Tosoh Corp.) with 2 mmol/L HNO₃ as the mobile phase.

3. 3. Results and discussion

3.3.1. The adsorption and swelling behaviors of the DMAAPS gel in various halide solutions

3.3.1.1. The amount of cations adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel prepared by various crosslinker concentrations

In this section, the effect of the anion species in halide solutions, i.e., KF, KCl, KBr, and KI solutions, on the amount of cation (K⁺) and anions (F⁻, Cl⁻, Br⁻, and Γ) adsorbed onto DMAAPS gel was examined. The gels were prepared using three different cross-linker concentrations, i.e., 5, 10, and 30 mmol/L. Figs. 3–1(a)–(d) show the amount of K⁺ adsorbed onto DMAAPS gel from these halide solutions as a function of temperature. In the previous Chapter 2, it was confirmed that the DMAAPS gel simultaneously adsorbed cations and

anions from salt solutions [1]; thus, the amount of cation (K^+) adsorbed in this study coincided with the amount of anion (F^- , CI^- , Br^- , or I^-) absorbed. Furthermore, the amount of K^+ adsorbed depended strongly on the interactions between the anion in the halide solution and N^+ of DMAAPS.

In the KF solution, negligible amounts of K^+ adsorbed onto the gels prepared at three different MBAA concentrations (i.e., 5, 10, and 30 mmol/L) at temperatures in the experimental range of 10–70 °C (Fig 3–1(a)). In other halide solutions, the amounts of K^+ adsorbed onto the gels prepared at three different MBAA concentrations at 10 °C were almost the same, regardless of the anion species (Figs. 3–1(b)–(d)). At a lower cross-linker concentration (5 mmol/L), the amount of K^+ adsorbed decreased significantly with increasing temperature, especially at 50 and 70 °C. In contrast, at 10 mmol/L MBAA, there was a slight decline in the amount of K^+ adsorbed, and, at 30 mmol/L, it remained unchanged with increasing temperature.

The phenomenon above can be explained as follows. At low temperature and in the gels synthesized with higher cross-linker concentration, the electroneutrality of the charge groups results from the intra-group ionic pairs formation [2]. An increase of the cross-linker concentration increases the polymer concentration in the gel and the network density in the gel. In this condition, the expansion of the polymer network of DMAAPS gel is restricted and the sulfonate groups become close to each other. In the halide solutions, only a part of the charged groups in the DMAAPS gel interacts with K⁺ and anions (F⁻, Cl⁻, Br⁻, Γ) because the interaction between the SO₃⁻ and N⁺ groups of the DMAAPS gel that forms an intra-group ionic pairing is quite strong; in other words the amount of ions adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel is limited and it reached a constant value. This adsorption amount is regarded as maximum adsorption amount of ions onto the gel. In contrary, at high temperature and in the gels synthesized with lower cross-linker concentration, the polymer network of DMAAPS gel swells largely. Furthermore, the thermal motion weakens the interaction between the N⁺ and SO₃⁻ groups of DMAAPS. The breakages of associations caused by temperature increase is

consistent with what was observed for sulfobetaine gel [3] and sulfobetaine polymer solids [4]. The thermal motion simultaneously weakens the ionic pairings force between the charged groups in the DMAAPS gel and the K⁺ and/or anions (F⁻, Cl⁻, Br⁻, Γ) from the halide solutions. These conditions reduce the adsorption of ions from the halide solutions onto the DMAAPS gel, thereby decreasing the amount of K⁺ adsorbed on the gel.

The order of increasing adsorption from the halide solutions was KI > KBr > KCl > KF, and the order of anion in these halide solutions, i.e., $I^- > Br^- > Cl^- > F^-$, was opposite that in the Hofmeister series. The typical order of the anion series is:



$$CO_3^{2-} > SO_4^{2-} > S_2O_3^{2-} > H_2PO_4^{-} > F^- > Cl^- > Br^- \approx NO_3^- > I^- > ClO_4^- > SCN^-$$
 (1)

Fig. 3–1 Amount of K^+ adsorbed onto DMAAPS gel from 10 mmol/L (a) KF, (b)

KCl, (c) KBr, and (d) KI solutions at various temperatures. The gels were prepared at three different cross-linker concentrations.

The Hofmeister series is related to the anions' ability to directly interact with the positively charged groups of DMAAPS, N⁺, and their adjacent hydration shells [5–7]. The species at the left of the Hofmeister series are referred to as kosmotropes or "water-structure makers". These anions are small and strongly hydrated [7]. In contrast, the species at the right of the Hofmeister series are referred to as chaotropes; these species are large and less hydrated and are known as "water-structure breakers" [5,6]. The ion sizes of F, Cl, Br, and I are 119, 167, 182, and 206 pm, respectively. Furthermore, the hydration energy of F⁻, Cl⁻, Br⁻, and Γ are -457, -381, -351, -307 kJ/mol. F⁻ with the highest charge and smallest sizes, has the highest hydration energy. Therefore, F⁻ attracts water molecules very strongly and an aqueous solution of F⁻ is formed with relative ease. The hydration energy gets progressively less exothermic along the series of F⁻, Cl⁻, Br⁻, Γ because the ionic size gets progressively larger along series.

The Cl⁻, Br⁻, and Γ ions used in this study are chaotropes and exhibit a weaker resistance to dehydration [8] in the following order: Cl⁻ > Br⁻ > Γ . Therefore, when DMAAPS gel was immersed in a KI solution, the Γ ions strongly interacted with the N⁺ groups of DMAAPS, which resulted in greater adsorption. In contrast, F⁻ ions are kosmotropes [8]; therefore, this strongly hydrated species exhibits stronger interactions with water molecules than the cohesive forces of water molecules. Therefore, F⁻ remained hydrated [9] resulting in less interaction of the F⁻ ions with the N⁺ of DMAAPS, which led to smaller adsorption.

3.3.1.2. The swelling degree of the DMAAPS gel prepared by various cross-linker concentrations

Figs. 3–2(a)–(d) show the temperature dependence of the swelling degree of DMAAPS gels prepared at three different MBAA concentrations in 10 mmol/L KF, KCl, KBr, and KI solutions. In each solution, the swelling degree increased with increasing temperature and was

only significant for the gel prepared at a low MBAA concentration (5 mmol/L). The addition of these halides into the poly(DMAAPS) solution led to dissociation of N⁺ and SO₃⁻ because of the new ionic interactions between the ions in the halide solution and the charged groups of poly(DMAAPS), i.e., SO₃⁻ and N⁺. For the DMAAPS gel synthesized with lower cross-linker concentration, at equilibrium swelling the polymer network of the gel expands largely. However, the degree of swelling of the gel prepared with a higher cross-linker concentration (30 mmol/L) increased only slightly with increasing temperature. Interesting phenomenon was found that although the swelling degree increased at a higher cross-linker concentration (30 mmol/L), the amount of K⁺ adsorbed onto the gel prepared at the same cross-linker concentration remained unchanged as seen in Fig. 3–2. This result is thought to be due to the fact that the increasing of the swelling degree is also influenced by the enhancement of the thermal motion.

The order of decreasing the hydration of ability of the anions was $F^- > CI^- > Br^- > I^-$, while the swelling degree of DMAAPS gel decreased in the following order: KI > KBr > KCl > KF as seen in Fig. 3–2. Furthermore, we observed that, at 10 °C, the swelling degrees of the gels prepared at three different MBAA concentrations were almost the same in the KF and KCl solutions (Figs. 3–2(a) and (b)); however, in the KBr and KI solutions (Figs. 3–2(c) and (d)), the swelling degrees of these three gels varied significantly at all temperatures.



Fig. 3–2 Swelling degrees of DMAAPS gel measured in 10 mmol/L (a) KF, (b) KCl, (c) KBr, and (d) KI solutions at various temperatures. The gels were prepared at three different cross-linker concentrations.

The swelling degrees of DMAAPS gels prepared at three different MBAA concentrations in the halide solutions and water were compared, as shown in Figs. 3–3(a)–(c). In water, the swelling degree of the gel prepared at a higher MBAA concentration (i.e., 30 mmol/L) increased gradually with increasing temperature; this increase was not significant and increased from 3.5 at 10 °C to only 6.6 at 70 °C (Fig. 3–3(a)). Comparison of this swelling degree in water with those in the halide solutions revealed that the swelling degrees in the KF and KCl solutions were almost the same as that in water. This similarity was observed at all three MBAA concentrations (i.e., 5, 10, and 30 mmol/L). However, in the KBr solution, the

swelling degree was larger than that in water at the three different MBAA concentrations. Furthermore, the swelling degree in the KI solution was much larger than those in water and the KF, KCl, and KBr solutions. These results indicated that K^+ and Γ ions interacted strongly with the SO₃⁻and N⁺ of DMAAPS gel, respectively, as shown by the amount of K⁺ adsorbed (Fig. 3–2).



Fig. 3–3 Swelling degrees of DMAAPS gel prepared using (a) 30, (b) 10, and (c) 5 mmol/L of cross-linker measured in water and 10 mmol/L KF, KCl, KBr, and KI solutions at various temperatures.

3.3.1.3. Competitive adsorption of ions onto the DMAAPS gel

Competitive adsorption of anions onto the DMAAPS gel from these halides was investigated using KI + KF, KI + KCl, KI + KBr, KBr + KF, and KBr + KCl mixtures; the results are summarized in Fig. 3–4. The concentration of each halide was 10 mmol/L. The gels were prepared at 30 mmol/L MBAA, and the amounts of K⁺ and anions (Γ , Br⁻, Cl⁻, and F⁻) adsorbed onto the gels were measured at various temperatures, i.e., 10, 30, 50, and 70 °C. The amount of K⁺ adsorbed was equal to the total amount of both anions adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel because of the simultaneous adsorption of anions and cations onto DMAAPS gel, as was shown in the previous Chapter 2 [1].



Fig. 3–4 Amounts of ions adsorbed onto DMAAPS gel in (a) KI + KF, (b) KI + KCl, (c) KI + KBr, (d) KBr + KF, and (e) KBr + KCl mixtures at various temperatures. The concentration of each halide solution was 10 mmol/L. The DMAAPS gels were prepared at a 30 mmol/L cross-linker concentration.

In all the mixed-halide solutions, i.e., KI + KF, KI + KCl, KI + KBr, KBr + KF, and KBr + KCl, the anion of the halide on the left side adsorbed better than on the right side; accordingly, the observed order of decreased adsorption ability of the anions was $\Gamma > Br^- >$ $Cl^{-} > F^{-}$, although the amount of F^{-} adsorbed was almost zero. This order is opposite that of the anion species in the Hofmeister series shown in Eq. (1). Furthermore, the amount of Γ adsorbed in the KI + KF, KI + KCl, and KI + KBr mixtures was larger than that in the solution of KI (Figs. 3–4(a)–(c)), and the amounts of Cl⁻ or Br⁻ adsorbed were smaller than that in the single solution of KCl or KBr, although the amount of F⁻ adsorbed was too small to be compared with that in the solution of KF. In addition, the amounts of Br⁻ adsorbed from the KBr + KF and KBr + KCl solutions were also larger than that from the KBr solution (Figs. 3-4(c) and (d)), and the amount of Cl⁻ adsorbed was smaller than that from the KCl solution of KCl; the amount of F⁻ adsorbed was too small to be compared with that from the KF solution. These results were attributed to the fact that the concentrations of K⁺ cations in the mixtures were double that in the single-halide solutions. The higher concentration of K^+ promoted adsorption of K⁺, which promoted adsorption of the anions because of simultaneous adsorption of cations and anions. However, adsorption of anions from the mixtures was competitive: The anions on the right side of the Hofmeister series shown in Eq. (1) tended to adsorb in larger amounts. To compensate for this increase, the anions on the left side of the Hofmeister series shown in Eq. (1) adsorbed less. Therefore, the amounts of anions on the right side of the Hofmeister series, such as Γ , adsorbed from the mixtures were higher than that from the single-halide solutions, as shown above; accordingly, the amounts of anions on the left side of the Hofmeister series adsorbed from the mixtures were lower than that from the single-halide solutions.

In addition, Figs. 3-4(a)-(c) show the effect of temperature on the amounts of ions adsorbed from mixtures containing KI. As shown in Fig. 3–1, in single-component solution and for gels prepared at a cross-linker concentration of 30 mmol/L, increasing the temperature did not induce any significant change in the amount of K⁺ adsorbed onto the gel. However, in

the mixture, the amount of K^+ adsorbed decreased gradually as the temperature increased from 10 to 70 °C (Figs. 3–4(a)–(c)). In the presence of competitive adsorption between two less-hydrated anions in a mixture, such as the KI + KBr solution, the amount of K⁺ adsorbed decreased significantly with increasing temperature, as shown in Fig. 3–4(c). In contrast, in mixtures containing more strongly hydrated anions, such as the KI + KCl solution, the amount of K⁺ adsorbed only decreased gradually with increasing temperature, as shown in Fig. 3–4(b). Additionally, in the mixture composed of KI and KF, the amount of K⁺ adsorbed was almost constant and only decreased at 70 °C, as shown in Fig. 3–4(a).

3.3.1.4. The swelling degree of the DMAAPS gel by competitive adsorption

The swelling degrees of DMAAPS gel in KI + KF, KI + KCl, KI + KBr, KBr + KF, and KBr + KCl mixtures are shown in Figs. 3–5(a) and (b). The gels were prepared at 30 mmol/L MBAA, and the swelling degrees of the gels were measured at various temperatures, i.e., 10, 30, 50, and 70 °C. Comparison of the swelling degree in the KI + KF mixture with those in the single-component solutions of KI and KF (Fig. 3–5(a)) revealed that the swelling degree of the gel in the mixture is intermediate those in each single-halide solution that comprised the mixtures. The observed order of decreasing swelling degrees in the mixtures was KI + KBr > KI + KCl > KI + KF > KBr + KCl > KBr + KF, as shown in Fig. 3–5(b).



Fig. 3–5 Swelling degrees of DMAAPS gels measured in (a) a KI + KF mixture and (b) KI + KF, KI + KCl, KI + KBr, KBr + KF, and KBr + KCl mixtures at various temperatures. The concentration of each halide solution was 10 mmol/L. The DMAAPS gels were prepared at 30 mmol/L cross-linker concentration.

3.3.1.5. The relationship between the adsorption and swelling behaviors of the DMAAPS gel

To elucidate the adsorption and swelling behaviors, similar to in the previous Chapter 2 [1], we examined the relationship between the swelling degree of the gel and amount of K^+ adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gels prepared at three different cross-linker concentrations, i.e., 5, 10, and 30 mmol/L, at various temperatures, i.e., 10, 30, 50, 70 °C, in 10 mmol/L KF, KCl, KBr, and KI solutions. The relationships are summarized in Fig. 3-6(a). The data points laid on the same line for the same halide solution even at different cross-linker concentrations and temperatures; this result was similar to that obtained in the previous Chapter 2 [1]. At smaller swelling degrees, the amount of K⁺ adsorbed remained unchanged and decreased gradually as the swelling degree increased. Although the trends remained the same, the adsorbed amount of K⁺ decreased at larger degrees of swelling in solutions containing anions with lower hydration abilities, such as KI. However, in solutions containing anions with higher hydration abilities, such as KCl, the amount of K⁺ adsorbed decreased at smaller degrees of swelling. The amount of K⁺ adsorbed from the KI, KBr, and KCl solutions decreased when the swelling degree reached about 35, 23, and 16, respectively; however, it was difficult to determine the swelling degree at which the adsorption amount decreased in the KF solution because almost no K⁺ was adsorbed from the KF solution.

To clearly elucidate the relationship between the amount of ions adsorbed and degree of swelling, similar to in the previous Chapter 2 [1], the concentration of polymer in the gel (C_p) at the equilibrium swollen state was determined from the swelling degree of the DMAAPS gels, as follows:

$$C_p = \frac{W_0}{V_0} \times \frac{1}{SD}$$
(2)

where W_0 is the weight of the dry sample gel, V_0 is the volume of the dry sample gel, and *SD* is the swelling degree of the gel, which is defined by (swollen gel diameter)³/(dry gel diameter)³.



Fig. 3–6 Relationship between the amount of K^+ adsorbed onto DMAAPS gel and (a) the swelling degree of the DMAAPS gel and (b) the polymer concentration in the gel. The gels were prepared at three different cross-linker concentrations, and the amounts of K^+ adsorbed and swelling degrees were measured in KF, KCl, KBr, and KI solutions at various temperatures.

The relationship between the amount of K^+ adsorbed and polymer concentration in the gel is shown in Fig. 3–6(b). The amount of K^+ adsorbed increased with increasing polymer concentration until it reached a constant maximum amount. This trend was the same as those described in the previous Chapter 2 [1]. The constant maximum value was regarded as the maximum adsorption amount of K^+ onto the DMAAPS gel in the specific halide solution.

This phenomenon was explained as follows in the previous Chapter 2 [1]: Gels with high polymer concentrations feature gel networks that are dominated by intra-group ionic pairing interactions [2]. Since the interaction between the SO_3^- and N⁺ groups of the DMAAPS gel

that formed intra-group ionic pairings was quite strong, the amount of ions adsorbed by DMAAPS gel was limited [1]. However, at low polymer concentrations, thermal motion weakened the interactions between ions in the halide solution and the charged groups of poly(DMAAPS), i.e., SO_3^- and N⁺.

In addition, for the halide solutions containing chaotropic anions with higher hydration abilities, such as the KCl solution, the amount of K⁺ adsorbed reached a constant maximum amount at higher polymer concentrations in the gel. However, for halide solutions containing chaotropic anions with lower hydration abilities, such as the KI solution, the maximum adsorbed amount of K⁺ occurred at a lower polymer concentration in the gel. The polymer concentrations in the gel at which the maximum adsorbed amount of K⁺ were obtained were about 31, 70, and 111 g/L for KI, KBr, and KCl solutions, respectively. Furthermore, the maximum adsorption amount of K⁺ depended strongly on the anion species. These results were attributed to the anion size, which decreases in the order of $\Gamma > Br^- > CI^- > F^-$, and that penetration of into the side chain of DMAAPS was more difficult for larger anions than smaller anions. Furthermore, the order of decreasing interaction with N⁺ in DMAAPS of the anions was $\Gamma > Br^- > CI^- > F^-$, as obtained from the Hofmeister series shown in Eq. (1).

In order to clarify the behavior of the gel over a wide concentration range, the adsorption and swelling behaviors of DMAAPS gel were further investigated in concentrated solutions of KI i.e., 50 mmol/L (8.3 g/L) and 100 mmol/L (16.6 g/L) as shown in Fig. 3–7. KI solution was chosen to represent the adsorption and swelling behaviors in the concentrated solutions because the maximum adsorption amount of K^+ onto the gel in this solution was the highest among four kinds of halide solutions. Furthermore, the DMAAPS gel was prepared at a 30 mmol/L cross-linker concentration and was measured at 10 °C to obtain the maximum adsorption amount of K^+ onto the gel. Chapter 3: Cation- and anion-adsorption properties of DMAAPS gel and its relationship with swelling behavior in aqueous salt solutions



Fig. 3–7 Relationship between KI equilibrium concentrations and (a) maximum adsorption amount of K^+ onto DMAAPS gel for K^+ and (b) degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel in diluted concentrations of KI solutions at 10 °C. The DMAAPS gels were prepared at a 30 mmol/L cross-linker concentration.

Fig. 3–7(a) shows the maximum adsorption amount of K^+ at a certain KI equilibrium concentrations. It is seen that the maximum adsorption amount of K^+ increased linearly with equilibrium concentration of K^+ over a wide range of experimental concentrations. The value of adsorption amount can be obtained by the following equation:

$$Q_{max} = 0.0057 \ C_e$$
 (3)

where Q_{max} is the maximum adsorption amount of K⁺ by DMAAPS gel and C_e is the equilibrium concentration of K⁺. This result leads to the conclusion that the maximum adsorption amount of K⁺ is proportional to the concentration of KI solution in the experimental range. In addition, as seen in Fig. 3–7(a) the maximum adsorption amount of K⁺ onto the gel in 100 mmol/L of KI solution of 0.49 mmol/g-gel was estimated to be ~ 13.7 % of the sulfonate content in the gel. This means that the sulfonate content in the gel to be used to interact with K⁺ from halide solution was still low even if the KI concentration was relatively high. This can be explained by the fact that the ionic pairings between SO₃⁻ and N⁺ groups of the DMAAPS gel is quite strong. From this result, we can conclude that the selectivity of the ions from halide solutions (KF, KCl, KBr, and KI) toward the charge groups

of DMAAPS; or in other words the order of the adsorption was unchanged with increasing the solutions concentrations in our experimental range. In addition, the swelling degree of the DMAAPS gel in concentrated solutions of KI is shown in Fig. 3–7(b). The degree of swelling of the gel increased with increasing KI equilibrium concentrations and was significant for KI concentration, i.e., 100 mmol/L. The addition of relatively high concentration of KI solution into the gel promoted more dissociation of N⁺ and SO₃⁻ because of the new ionic interactions between the ions in the halide solution and the charged groups of as a result polymer network of the gel expanded and swelling degree increased.

3.3.2. Adsorption and swelling behaviors of the DMAAPS gel in various solutions

3.3.2.1. The relationship between the adsorption and swelling behaviors of the DMAAPS gel in various solutions containing monovalent cations

In addition to the type of anion, the effect the type of monovalent cation with a common anion of NO_3^- on the correlation between the swelling degree and amount of cation adsorbed has been investigated to understand deeply on the adsorption and swelling behaviors of DMAAPS gel. Fig. 3–8 shows the relationship between the amount of cation adsorbed on the DMAAPS gel and the swelling degree of the DMAAPS gel or the polymer concentration in the gel in KNO₃, LiNO₃ solutions. The gels were also prepared at different cross-linker concentrations, and the adsorption amount of Zn^{2+} and swelling degree were measured in various temperatures. The amount of cation adsorbed remained unchanged at low swelling degree and decreased as the swelling degree increased. In contrast, it increased with increasing polymer concentration until it reached a constant maximum amount. This trend was the same as those described in the halide solution above. As it seen that although KNO₃, LiNO₃ have the same valence of cation, however the maximum adsorption amount of cations in these solutions were quite different. As explained by Grooth et al. [10] that the order of swelling in various cation depends on the ion concentration, however at concentration below 0.8 M, the order is:

$$\mathrm{Li}^+ < \mathrm{Na}^+ < \mathrm{K}^+ \tag{4}$$

Since the ion concentration in this research is below 0.8 M, above order can be followed in explaining both adsorption and swelling behavior. This order also follows the Hofmeister series ordering; that the cation having bigger size tends to become water structure breaker. In addition, the maximum adsorption amount of cations in the KNO₃ and LiNO₃ solutions was reached at polymer concentration in the gel were 180 and 210 g/L, respectively.



Fig. 3–8 The relationship between the amount of cation adsorbed on the DMAAPS gel and (a) the swelling degree of the DMAAPS gel and (b) the polymer concentration in the gel. The gels were prepared at different cross-linker concentrations, and the adsorption amount of Zn^{2+} and swelling degree were measured in the KNO₃, LiNO₃ solutions of various temperatures.

3.3.2.2. The relationship between the adsorption and swelling behaviors of the DMAAPS gel in various solutions containing divalent cations



Fig. 3–9 The relationship between the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed on the DMAAPS gel and (a) the swelling degree of the DMAAPS gel and (b) the polymer concentration in the gel. The gels were prepared at different cross-linker concentrations, and the adsorption amount of Zn^{2+} and swelling degree were measured in the Ca(NO₃)₂, Zn(NO₃)₂, and Mg(NO₃)₂ solutions of various temperatures.

In this section, the effect of divalent cation species in nitrate solutions on the relationship between the amount of cation adsorbed onto the gel and its swelling degree was examined in the Ca(NO₃)₂, Zn(NO₃)₂, and Mg(NO₃)₂ solutions. As shown in Fig. 3–9 the data points also laid on the same line for the same solution even at different cross-linker concentrations and temperatures. Furthermore, the amount of Zn²⁺ adsorbed increased with increasing polymer concentration until it reached a constant maximum amount.; this result was similar to that was obtained in the halide solutions above. Although it is seen that the adsorption amount of cation from Ca(NO₃)₂ solutions was higher compared with other solutions, the effect of cation species especially for divalent in nitrate solution was less pronounced compared with that monovalent cation. This can be observed by the polymer concentration in the gel at which the maximum adsorbed amount of cation was obtained was quite similar in these solution i.e., 180 g/L.



Fig. 3–10 The relationship between the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed on the DMAAPS gel and (a) the swelling degree of the DMAAPS gel and (b) the polymer concentration in the gel. The gels were prepared at different cross-linker concentrations, and the adsorption amount of Zn^{2+} and swelling degree were measured in the Zn(NO₃)₂, ZnCl₂, and ZnSO₄ solutions of various temperatures.

Since in nitrate solution the effect of divalent cation species less clear, the cation species was the fixed to be Zn^{2+} and the anion species was varied i.e., NO_3^- , CI^- , SO_4^- to investigate the adsorption and swelling behavior of DMAAPS gel and its relationship as shown in Fig. 3–10. As seen that the amount of cation adsorbed on the DMAAPS gel was not only dependent on the temperature, cross-linker concentration, and the cation species but also affected by the kind of anion species. The order of anion which gives the higher amount of cation adsorbed was $NO_3^- > CI^- > SO_4^-$. This behavior is an agreement with the result in various halide solutions as previously explained (See Fig. 3–1) i.e., the order of adsorption tends to follow the Hofmeister series. When the DMAAPS gel was immersed in the solution containing chaotropes anion, they exhibit weaker interactions with water molecules and then facilitates higher amount of anion interact with the ammonium groups of DMAAPS or in other words

the adsorption ability of DMAAPS toward anion increased. The amount of cation adsorbed on DMAAPS gel also shows the ion selectivity of the tested cations toward the N^+ groups of DMAAPS.

From above phenomena, we can conclude that in the solution containing monovalent or divalent cation, the maximum adsorption amount of cation onto the DMAAPS gel was influenced especially by the anion species that always follow the Hofmeister series. However, the polymer concentration in the gel at which the adsorption of ion remained constant, was found to be similar in the solution containing divalent cation despite variation of the anion species. In contrast, the influence of anion species in the solution containing monovalent cation is more significant to the polymer concentration in the gel at which the adsorption of ion remained constant. This can be considered due to the divalent cation tend to be more breaker than monovalent and are known to have increased interaction with organic ions [11].

3.4. Summary

The effect of the anion and cation species in the solutions, i.e., KF, KCl, KBr, KI, KNO₃, LiNO₃, Zn(NO₃)₂, Mg(NO₃)₂, Ca(NO₃)₂, ZnCl₂, and ZnSO₄ on the amount of cation or anions adsorbed onto DMAAPS gel was investigated. In the halide solutions, the order of increased adsorption of the anion onto DMAAPS gel was opposite that in the Hofmeister series, although almost no K^+ and F^- were adsorbed from the KF solution. Furthermore, the relationship between the degree of swelling of the gel and amount of K^+ adsorbed onto the gel was elucidated. The data points laid on the same line for the same halide solution even at different cross-linker concentrations and temperatures; these results correlated with those of the previous Chapter 2. The effect of the polymer concentration in the gel increased, the swelling degree decreased, and the amount of K⁺ adsorbed increased to a constant maximum adsorption amount, i.e., the maximum adsorption amount, above polymer concentrations of

31, 70, and 111 g/L in KI, KBr, and KCl solutions, respectively. In addition, it was found that in the mixture of these halide solutions, the competitive adsorption of anions occurred. In the mixture, the adsorbed amount of the anion on the more right side of the Hofmeister series became larger than that in the single-components solutions, while those on the more left side of the Hofmeister series became smaller than in the single-components solutions.

Additionally, the relationship between the amount of cation adsorbed and swelling degree of DMAAPS in KNO₃, LiNO₃, Zn(NO₃)₂, Mg(NO₃)₂, Ca(NO₃)₂, ZnCl₂, and ZnSO4 solutions was also observed to comprehend the behaviour of DMAAPS in various ions species. It was found that the influence of anion is usually more significant as compared to that of cation on the maximum adsorption amount and the polymer concentration in the gel at which the adsorption of ion remained constant primarily in the solution containing divalent cation.

3.5. References

- [1] Ningrum EO, Murakami Y, Ohfuka Y, Gotoh T, Sakohara S. Polymer 2014;55:5189– 97.
- [2] Georgiev GS, Mincheva ZP, Georgieva VT. Macromol Symp 2001;164:301–12.
- [3] Das M, Sanson N, Kumacheva E. Chem Mater 2008;20:7157–63.
- [4] Gauthier M, Carrozzella T, Penlidis A. J Polym Sci A Polym Chem 2002;40:511–23.
- [5] Zhang Y, Furyk S, Bergbreiter DE, Cremer PS. J Am Chem Soc 2005;127:14505–10.
- [6] Zhang Y, Cremer PS. Curr Opin Chem Biol 2006;10:658–63.
- [7] Zhang Y, Cremer PS. Annu Rev Phys Chem 2010;61:63–83.
- [8] Trompette JL, Massot L, Arurault L, Fontorbes S. Corros Sci 2011;53:1262-8.
- [9] dos Santos AP, Diehl A, Levin Y. Langmuir 2010;26:10778-83.
- [10] de Grooth J, Ogieglo W, de Vos WM, Gironès M, Nijmeijer K, Benes NE. Eur Polym J 2014;55:57–65.
- [11] Feng HJ, Hu LF, Mahmood Q, Long Y, Shen DS. Biochem Eng J 2008;39:478-85.

Chapter 4

Phase transition of poly(DMAAPS) and its relationship with cation- and anion-adsorption properties of DMAAPS gel in aqueous salt solutions

4.1. Introduction

Considering the sensitive nature of polysulfobetaine on the ions as observed in previous Chapters by the swelling and adsorption behaviors of DMAAPS gel toward ions from salt solutions, in this Chapter we made a detailed study of transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS). It has reported by previous researcher that poly(DMAAPS) is insoluble in water at lower temperature and is soluble at high temperature; in other word the poly(DMAAPS) has an upper critical solution temperature (UCST). Furthermore, the zwiterionic polymer is considered to be a collapse-coil state in water below the UCST due to the intra-chain and /or inter-chain interaction; however, above the UCST the polymer adopts an extended conformation because the thermal motion of the polymer molecule overcome the intra-chain and/or inter-chain interaction. In addition, the inter-chain and/or intra-chain interaction are disrupted by the addition of salts, and the resulting expansion of the polymer is enhanced by the addition of salts.

The main purpose of this Chapter is to confirm the phase transition change of polysulfobetaine, i.e., poly(DMAAPS) in aqueous salt solutions, i.e., NaNO₃, Zn(NO₃)₂, Al(NO₃)₃, KF, KCl, KBr, KI, ZnCl₂, ZnSO₄, Mg(NO₃)₂, and Ca(NO₃)₂. The effect of salt solution concentration, cation and anion species on the phase transition behavior of these polysulfobetaine was investigated. Furthermore, the relationship between the phase transition

behavior of poly(DMAAPS) in aqueous salt solutions and the amount of ions adsorbed onto this gel as shown previously in Chapters 2 and 3was also elucidated.

4.2. Experiment Section

4.2.1. Preparation of the poly(DMAAPS)

The DMAAPS polymer was prepared by free radical polymerization, and was used to evaluate the transition behavior in response to the temperature change. The preparation procedures were the same as those described in our paper [3]. *N*,*N*,*N'*,*N'*-Tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED, Sigma-Aldrich Co., USA) and ammonium peroxodisulfate (APS, Sigma-Aldrich Co., USA) were used as a polymerization accelerator and an initiator, respectively. In the preparation of the poly(DMAAPS), the concentrations of TEMED and APS were fixed. The synthesis conditions of the poly(DMAAPS) are listed in Table 4–1.

Initially the DMAAPS and TEMED were dissolved in deionized water and the solution volume was made up to 100 mL with deionized water. This monomer solution was charged into a separable flask. The solution was purged with nitrogen gas in order to remove dissolved oxygen and then 20 mL of APS solution, from which the dissolved oxygen had also been removed by purging with nitrogen gas, was added. Under a nitrogen atmosphere, polymerization was carried out for 6 h at 50 °C. Finally, the resulting polymer was purified over a period of one week by dialysis using a membrane with a molecular weight cut off of 12000–14000 (Cellu Step T3, Membrane Filtration Product, Inc.).

		concentration [mmol/L]
Monomer	: <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -dimethyl(acrylamidopropyl)ammonium propane sulfonate (DMAAPS)	500
Accelerator	: <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> ', <i>N</i> '-tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED)	2
Initiator	: Ammonium peroxodisulfate (APS)	2

 Table 4–1 Synthesis composition of DMAAPS polymer.

4.2.2. Measurement of the phase transition of the poly(DMAAPS)

The phase transition of poly(DMAAPS) in response to the temperature change was also measured using a reported procedure [3] to elucidate the effects of contact time, $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution concentration, polymer concentration, and molecular weight of the polymer on the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS). The transition temperature was evaluated from the temperature dependence of the transmittance at 600 nm through the polymer solution using a spectrophotometer equipped with a temperature control system (V-630, Japan Spectroscopy Co., Ltd.). The transition temperature was defined as the value at 50% of the transmittance.

4.3. Results and Discussion

4.3.1. The phase transition of the poly(DMAAPS) in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution of various concentrations

The transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) was also measured to verify the effect of the concentration of $Zn(NO_3)_2$ on the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed as shown in Figs. 2–11(a) and (b). Fig. 4–1 shows the temperature dependence of the transmittance through the 100 g/L poly(DMAAPS) solution with C_m of 500 mmol/L in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solutions of various concentrations. Increasing the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ concentration resulted in a gradual decrease of the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) from 47 to 38 °C. This phenomenon is attributed to dissociation of the N⁺ and SO₃⁻ pairings resulting from the new ionic interactions of the ions

in the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution, i.e., Zn^{2+} and NO_3^- , with the charged groups of poly(DMAAPS), i.e., SO_3^- and N^+ [4]. Increasing the solution concentration enhances the dissociation of the chain pairings because the amount of ions (Zn^{2+} and NO_3^-) adsorbed on poly(DMAAPS) also increases. At higher dissociation of the chain pairings of poly(DMAAPS), the transition temperature shifted to lower value. This result is congruent with the dependence of the adsorption amount on the solution concentration observed in Figs. 2–11(a) and (b).



Fig. 4–1 Transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) (100 g/L) in Zn(NO₃)₂ solutions of various concentrations.

4.3.2. The phase transition of the poly(DMAAPS) in halide solutions containing different anion species

The transition behaviors of poly(DMAAPS) in halide solutions with various concentrations are shown in Figs. 4–2(a)–(d). C_p and C_m of poly(DMAAPS) were 20 g/L and 500 mmol/L, respectively. The results showed that increasing halide concentration resulted in an initial increase in the transition temperature at a specific halide concentration followed by a decrease above that concentration.
At lower KI concentration of 0–1 mmol/L, the transition temperature gradually increased from 36 to around 58 °C (Fig. 4–2(d)); this increase might have been due to partial dissociation of N⁺ and SO₃⁻ pairing resulting from the new ionic interactions with Γ and K⁺, respectively. At these low KI concentrations, the amounts of ions (K⁺ and Γ) available to disrupt the interactions of the N⁺ and SO₃⁻ groups in poly(DMAAPS) were restricted; thus, dissociation of the ionic interactions occurred locally (i.e., partial dissociation). Partial dissociation induced chain mobility, which led to enhanced inter-chain interactions [5] leading to aggregation of the polymer that inevitably increased the transition temperature. Upon further increasing the KI concentration to 10 mmol/L, the transition temperature decreased significantly to less than 20 °C, which is out of the experimental range; this can be explained by dissociation of the ionic pairing of SO₃⁻ and N⁺, which occurred easier in highly concentrated KI solutions because a significant number of ions (K⁺ and Γ) were available for disruption [4].

In addition, it is seen in Fig. 4–2 that the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) in KF and KCl of 0.25 mmol/L is lower than that in KBr and KI at the same concentration. Furthermore, the difference between the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) in water and in 0.25 mmol/L halide solutions increased with decreasing the hydration ability of the anions in the following order: KI > KBr > KCl > KF. This order can be explained by the fact that in solutions of lower concentration, ions from solution leads to the partial dissociation of the ionic pairings as a result from the ionic interaction with K⁺ and anions (F⁻, Cl⁻, Br⁻, Γ) from halide solutions. But since the ability of the chaotropes ions (Cl⁻, Br⁻, Γ) to disrupt these pairing is greater than that the kosmotropes ions (F⁻), the chain mobility of polymer in the solution containing chaotropes ions is greatly enhanced especially for the ions having lower hydration ability. As explained above, the chain mobility leads to aggregation of the polymer that eventually increased the transition temperature. As a consequence, the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) in KI and KBr solutions of 0.25 mmol/L is higher than that in KCl and KF solutions at the same concentration.

Very similar transition behavior was observed when poly(DMAAPS) was dissolved in KF, KCl, and KBr solutions, as shown in Figs. 4-2(a)-(c). Comparison of the transition temperatures of poly(DMAAPS) in KCl, KBr, KI, and KF solutions revealed that the gap between the maximum and minimum transition temperatures within the experimental halide concentration range decreased in the following order: KI > KBr > KCl > KF. Furthermore, the transition temperatures of poly(DMAAPS) in KF, KCl, KBr, and KI solutions (10 mmol/L) were 50, 47, 31, and <20 °C, respectively. The transition behaviors of poly(DMAAPS) in halide solutions were strongly related to the adsorption behavior of ions onto poly(DMAAPS), as explained in our previous study [3]. Based on the adsorption and transition behaviors, the transition temperatures of poly(DMAAPS) in 10 mmol/L halide solutions decreased in the following order of halides: KF > KCl > KBr > KI; in contrast, the amounts of K^+ adsorbed showed the opposite trend. For the KF, KCl, KBr, and KI solutions, the amounts of K⁺ adsorbed onto DMAAPS gel in these solutions were almost zero, 0.015, 0.03, and 0.047 mmol/g-dry gel, respectively, as shown in Fig. 3-1. In addition, at a fixed halide concentration of 10 mmol/L, the anions with lower hydration ability, such as I⁻, promoted dissociation of the N^+ and SO_3^- pairings causing a shift in the transition temperature to a lower value. In contrast, dissociation of $N^{\scriptscriptstyle +}$ and $SO_3^{\scriptscriptstyle -}$ pairing was limited in solutions containing anions with higher hydration abilities, such as F⁻; accordingly, the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) was higher in these solutions.

Chapter 4: Phase transition of poly(DMAAPS) and its relationship with cation- and anion-adsorption properties of DMAAPS gel in aqueous salt solutions



Fig. 4–2 Transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) (20 g/L) in (a) KF, (b) KCl, (c) KBr, and (d) KI solutions of various concentrations.

4.3.3. The phase transition of the poly(DMAAPS) in various solutions containing different cation and anion species

Fig. 4–3 shows the effect of anion species in various salt solutions (nitrate, chloride, sulphate) on the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) in 10 mmol/L solutions. C_p and C_m of poly(DMAAPS) were 20 g/L and 500 mmol/L, respectively. The transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) in Zn(NO₃)₂ as shown in Fig. 4–3 (a) was less than that in water. However, when poly(DMAAPS) was dissolved in ZnSO₄ and ZnCl₂ solutions, the transition temperature of the transition temperatu

poly(DMAAPS) in these solutions was $NO_3^- < Cl^- < SO_4^-$. This phenomenon can be understood by considering the Hofmesiter series that explained the anions' ability to directly interact with the positively charged groups of DMAAPS, N⁺, and their adjacent hydration shells [6–8]. The typical order of the anion series is:

$$CO_{3}^{2^{-}} > SO_{4}^{2^{-}} > S_{2}O_{3}^{2^{-}} > H_{2}PO_{4}^{-} > F^{-} > CI^{-} > Br^{-} \approx NO_{3}^{-} > I^{-} > CIO_{4}^{-} > SCN^{-}$$
(1)

Very similar transition behavior was observed when the poly(DMAAPS) was dissolved in various salt solutions (nitrate, chloride, sulphate) with a common cation of Ni²⁺. These results are slightly different from those in the solutions containing monovalent cation Na⁺ and K⁺ as shown in Fig. 4-3(c-d). Although, the transition temperature in nitrate solution was the lowest compared with that chloride and sulphate solutions, the transition temperature in chloride solution was higher than that in sulphate solution. These results attributed to the fact that, in the solutions containing monovalent cations, the amount of ions adsorbed onto the gel is smaller compared with that in the solutions containing divalent cations as shown in Chapter 2 (see Fig. 3-10). It was found that the maximum adsorption amount of K^+ in the K₂SO₄ and KCl were almost zero and 0.016 mmol/g-dry gel, respectively. This means that the entanglement due to partial dissociation by the addition of low concentration of solutions is very small and can be neglected. Since the amount of K^+ adsorbed onto the gel in KCl solution was quite high, the partial dissociation might induced chain mobility, which led to the enhancement of the inter-chain interactions [5] and the aggregation of the polymer that inevitably increased the transition temperature. This reason can also be used for explaining the phenomenon of the transition behavior in solutions with a common cation of Na^+ as shown in Fig. 4-3(c).

Chapter 4: Phase transition of poly(DMAAPS) and its relationship with cation- and anion-adsorption properties of DMAAPS gel in aqueous salt solutions



Fig. 4–3 Transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) in 10 mmol/L nitrate, sulphate and chloride solutions with a common cation of (a) Zn^{2+} (b) Ni⁺ (c) Na⁺ (d) K⁺.

The effect of cation species in various salt solutions (nitrate, chloride, sulphate) on the transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) is shown in Fig. 4–4. C_p and C_m of poly(DMAAPS) were 20 g/L and 500 mmol/L, respectively. The solutions concentration was 10 mmol/L. It is well known that a decrease in the transition temperature of poly DMAAPS is related to the dissociation of N⁺ and SO₃⁻ pairings resulting from the new ionic interactions between the ions in the salt solution and the charged groups of poly(DMAAPS), i.e., SO₃⁻ and N⁺ as seen in Fig. 4–4(a). In nitrate solution containing divalent cations, i.e., Zn²⁺ and Ni²⁺ ions, the transition temperatures of poly(DMAAPS) were observed at around 28 °C and 32 °C, respectively. In the case of monovalent cations, the transition temperatures were 29 °C, and

37 °C for Na⁺ and K⁺, respectively.

In comparison of four kinds of solutions, the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) in $Zn(NO_3)_2$, Ni(NO₃)₂, and NaNO₃ solutions were shift to a lower temperature compared with that in water. In contrast, the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) in KNO₃ solution was higher than that in water. The effect of divalent cation, i.e., Ni²⁺ ion to the transition temperature was less than monovelant cation, i.e., Na⁺. This behavior can be explained by the fact that the dissociation of DMAAPS pairing was not only dependent on the amount of cation adsorbed but also by the valence of the cation and anion species. The divalent interacted more strongly with the DMAAPS gel network than the monovalent cation, which was indicated by the amount of cation adsorbed as explained previously in Chapter 2 in Fig. 2-4. Furthermore, in the solutions containing divalent cations, cation bridges are formed between the negatively charged, i.e., SO₃⁻ groups in the DMAAPS chains, by intra- and/or inter-bridging. But since this cation bridging leads to the formation of new cross-linking points between DMAAPS chains, and the dissociation is hindered by this interaction. Therefore, the ionic pairings of betaine are more effectively to be dissociated by Na^+ or K^+ than that by Zn^{2+} or Ni²⁺. However, in the case of Zn^{2+} , since the amount of cation adsorbed by the DMAAPS gel was higher, the dissociation was also improved.

The transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) in chloride and sulphate solutions containing different cation species is shown in Fig. 4–4(b) and (c), respectively. The effect of cation species in chloride solution was lower than in nitrate solution. These phenomena are attributed to the fact that the interaction between charge groups of DMAAPS with anion and cations from solution was insufficient to make the DMAAPS chain dissociate, instead of promoted the entanglement of chains and the aggregation of the polymer, as a result the transition temperature increased. This phenomenon was similar to that reported by Lee et al. [9], when the NaCl concentration is high enough, the salt makes the polymeric chain bend and diminishes the intrinsic viscosity.

In addition, the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) in sulphate solution containing divalent cation was higher than the transition temperature in water. The transition temperature increased because of the partial dissociation of ionic pairings of DMAAPS. The partial dissociation might occur due to the amount of cation adsorbed was low and the characteristic of $SO_4^{2^-}$. $SO_4^{2^-}$ is referred as kosmotropes anion that can increase the aggregation of the polymeric chain. The entanglement of DMAAPS chain was suppressed when poly(DMAAPS) was diluted in sulphate solution containing monovalent cation.



Fig. 4–4 Transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) in 10 mmol/L (a) nitrate (b) chloride and (c) sulphate solutions containing different cation species.



Fig. 4–5 Relationship between the transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) and the maximum adsorption amount of cations in various solutions with concentration of 10 mmol/L.

From Fig. 4–(1–4), we have elucidated the transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) in various salt solutions. An interesting phenomenon was found especially for poly(DMAAPS); the transition temperature can be observed over a wide range of monomer concentration in the solutions. Furthermore, interaction of charged groups with ions from salt solutions may lead to the dissociation or entanglement of polymeric chains of DMAAPS. On the other hand, it was difficult to identify when the polymeric chains of DMAAPS will dissociate or entangle. Based on this consideration, the relationship between the transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) and the maximum adsorption amount of cations onto the gel in various solutions such as water, Zn(NO₃)₂, ZnCl, ZnSO4, KNO₃, KCl, K₂SO₄, Ca(NO₃)₂, Mg(NO₃)₂, LiNO₃, Al(NO₃)₃, and NaNO₃ was investigated as shown in Fig. 4–5. The solutions concentration was fixed at 10 mmol/L. The transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) initially increased, which depend on the ion species and ion concentration. An increase in the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) at lower amount of cation adsorbed (0–0.015 mmol/g-gel) means that the entanglement of the polymer chain occurred. Whereas, a decrease

in the transition temperature at relatively higher amount of cation adsorbed (0.015–0.039 mmol/g-gel) is attributed to the dissociation of the polymer chain. This result suggests that the maximum amount of ion adsorbed can be simply estimated by measuring the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS), which can be obtained easily by measuring the temperature dependence of transmittance through the salt solution containing poly(DMAAPS).

4.4. Summary

The transition temperature of the poly(DMAAPS) was examined in various salt solution containing different anion and cation species. The transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) was strongly influenced by the salt solution concentration and anion and cation species in the solutions. Interaction of charged groups with ions from salt solutions may lead to the dissociation or entanglement of polymeric chains of DMAAPS. When the poly(DMAAPS) was immersed in the solutions containing anion or cation species at the left of the Hofmeister series, the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) shifted to a higher value due to the entanglement of polymer chain as a result from the partial dissociation of the charge groups by the ions from solutions. In contrast, the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) shifted to a lower value when the poly(DMAAPS) was immersed in the solutions containing anion or cation species at the right of the Hofmeister series due to the dissociation of the chain pairings of poly(DMAAPS) increased significantly as a result from higher amount of ions adsorbed by the poly(DMAAPS). Additionally, the relationship between the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) and the maximum amount of ion adsorbed by the DMAAPS gel in various solutions was elucidated. The transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) initially increased and then decreased as the maximum amount of ion adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel increased, which depend on the ion species and ion concentration. This result suggests that the maximum amount of ion adsorbed can be easily determined by investigating the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) even if anion and cation species in the solutions are different.

4.5. References

- [1] Salamone JC, Volksen W, Olson AP, Israel SC. Polymer 1978;19:1157-62.
- [2] Takahashi A, Hamai K, Okada Y, Sakohara S. Polymer 2011;52:3791-9.
- [3] Ningrum EO, Murakami Y, Ohfuka Y, Gotoh T, Sakohara S. Polymer 2014;55:5189–97.
- [4] Ning J, Kubota K, Li G, Haraguchi K. React Funct Polym 2013;73:969–78.
- [5] Chen L, Honma Y, Mizutani T, Liaw DJ, Gong JP, Osada Y. Polym Gels Netw 2000;41:141-7.
- [6] Zhang Y, Furyk S, Bergbreiter DE, Cremer PS. J Am Chem Soc 2005;127:14505-10.
- [7] Zhang Y, Cremer PS. Curr Opin Chem Biol 2006;10:658-63.
- [8] Zhang Y, Cremer PS. Annu Rev Phys Chem 2010;61:63-83.
- [9] Lee W-F,Tsai C-C. Polymer 1995;36:357-64.

Chapter 5

Comparison between DMAAPS and DMAABS polymers and gels on ion-adsorption, swelling, and transition behaviors

5.1. Introduction

Based on the previous researcher findings [1–4], it seemed apparent that the chain length of the charged functional groups of sulfobetaine would affect the polymer hydrophobicity and the interaction between each positive and negative charges i.e., inter-chain, intra-chain, and intra-group association of sulfobetaine that eventually influenced the adsorption properties of zwitterionic polymers toward external ion. However, it was reported by previous researcher only within a very limited range of polymer concentration, molecular weight, and salt concentration. Therefore, in this Chapter the effect of the number of methylene groups spacer of sulfobetaine on the adsorption, swelling, and transition behaviors using the DMAAPS and *N*,*N*-dimethyl(acrylamidopropyl)ammonium butane sulfonate (DMAABS) polymers and/or gels was investigated in the NaNO₃, Zn(NO₃)₂ solutions. The effects of the contact time, the heating rate, the salt solution concentration and anion and cation species in the solutions on the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) were elucidated. Furthermore, the relationship between the degree of swelling of DMAAPS gels and the amount of cation or anion adsorbed onto these gels was also observed.

5.2. Experimental Section

5.2.1. Materials

1,4-butane sultone (BS) was used to prepare DMAABS monomer, which was purchased from Tokyo Chemical Industry Co., Ltd. and used as received. Other materials were the same with what is used in preparing DMAAPS as mentioned previously in Chapter 2.

5.2.2. Synthesis of DMAABS

DMAABS was synthesized using the same synthetic method by the ring-opening reaction of *N*,*N*-dimethylaminopropylacrylamide (DMAPAA; KJ Chemicals Co., Ltd., Japan) and 1,4butane sultone (BS) [5] as explained previously in Chapter 2. A mixture of BS (79 g) and acetonitrile (75 g) was added dropwise with continuous stirring at 30 °C for 90 min into a mixture of DMAPAA (100 g) and acetonitrile (200 g). Stirring was continued for 16 h and then the solution was allowed to stand for 2 d. Precipitated white crystals of DMAAPS were collected by filtration, washed with 500 mL of acetone, and finally dried under reduced pressure for at least 24 h. The synthesis reaction of DMAABS is shown in Fig. 5–1.

$$CH_{2} = CHCONH(CH_{2})_{3}N \begin{pmatrix} CH_{3} \\ CH_{3} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} CH_{2} \\ CH_{3} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} CH_{2} \\ CH_{2} \\ CH_{2} \\ CH_{3} \\ CH_{3}$$





Fig. 5–1 Synthesis reaction and chemical structure of *N*,*N*-dimethyl(acrylamidopropyl)ammonium butane sulfonate (DMAABS).

5.2.3. Preparation of the DMAABS gel

500 mmol/L of monomer concentration was chosen for study the adsorption and swelling behaviors because the DMAABS monomer was difficult to dissolve at high concentration. Moreover, the DMAAPS gels were also prepared with 500 mmol/L of monomer concentration as a comparison purpose. The DMAAPS and DMAABS gels were prepared by free radical polymerization and the preparation procedures were the same as those described in previous chapter and the synthesis conditions of the gels are listed in Table 5–1.

		concentration
		[mmol/L]
Monomer	: N,N-dimethyl(acrylamidopropyl)ammonium propane	500
	sulfonate (DMAAPS)	
	<i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -dimethyl(acrylamidopropyl)ammonium butane	
	sulfonate (DMAABS)	
Linker	: <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> '-methylenebisacrylamide (MBAA)	5, 10, 30
Accelerator	: <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> ', <i>N</i> '-tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED)	10
Initiator	: Ammonium peroxodisulfate (APS)	0.5

Table 5-1 Synthesis composition of DMAAPS and DMAABS gel.

The intrinsic viscosity of the product poly(DMAAPS) was varied by altering the monomer concentration in the preparation of the polymer. The intrinsic viscosity of the poly(DMAAPS) $[\eta]$ was measured in 0.1 M NaCl solution at 30 °C using a Ubbelohde viscometer (SU-7Z40, SIBATA, Japan) [4]:

$$[\eta] = \lim \eta_{sp} / Cp$$

$$c \to 0$$
(1)

Here, specific viscosity, η_{sp} was calculated by $\eta_{sp} = \eta_{rel} - 1$, and relative viscosity, η_{rel} was calculated by η_{rel} = time for solution with C_p / time for solvent, where C_p is the polymer concentration. The intrinsic viscosity [η] of the synthesized poly(DMAAPS) varies from 0.11,

0.12, 0.25 dL/g. The synthesis conditions of the poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) are listed in Table 5–2.

		concentration [mmol/L]
Monomer	: <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -dimethyl(acrylamidopropyl)ammonium propane sulfonate (DMAAPS)	20, 40, 100
	<i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -dimethyl(acrylamidopropyl)ammonium butane sulfonate (DMAABS)	20, 40, 100
Accelerator	: <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> ', <i>N</i> '-tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED)	2
Initiator	: Ammonium peroxodisulfate (APS)	2

Table 5–2 Synthesis composition of DMAAPS and DMAABS polymer.

5. 3. Results and discussion

5.3.1. Time dependence of adsorption onto the DMAABS gel

The effect of contact time on Zn^{2+} adsorption onto DMAABS gel was investigated to study the rate of adsorbed amount of Zn^{2+} . Fig. 5–2 shows the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed on the DMAABS gel in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution at 50 °C as a function of adsorption time. The concentration of $Zn(NO_3)_2$ was fixed 10 mmol/L. This result showed that the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAABS gel increased significantly within the first 1 h and with further prolongation of the adsorption time, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAABS gel did not increase and finally the adsorption ultimately achieved equilibrium. The equilibrium adsorption of Zn^{2+} onto the DMAABS gel was reached very fast (less than 3 h) compared with that onto the DMAAPS gel as seen in Fig. 5–2. As shown in Chapter 2, in the case of DMAAPS gel, the equilibrium adsorption was achieved at about 8 h (See Fig. 2–3). This phenomenon is due to the effective formation of the inter-chain pairing of the charged groups of the DMAABS gel. Since the pairings are strong, the DMAABS gel becomes very dense; or in other words the swelling ability of the gel network is limited. In this condition, the penetration of ion into the network of DMAABS gel is also restricted. Therefore, the equilibrium adsorption of Zn^{2+} onto the DMAABS gel can be reached rapidly.

From above adsorption behaviors, 12 h contact time was used in investigating the amount of ions adsorbed onto the DMAAPS and DMAABS gels in various preparation conditions. This contact time is same as the time used for the DMAAPS gel as obtained in our previous study [6].



Fig. 5–2 Time dependence of the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAABS gel at 50 °C in 10 mmol/L Zn(NO₃)₂ solution.

5.3.2. A comparison of the adsorption behaviors of ions onto the DMAAPS and DMAABS gels in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ and $NaNO_3$ solutions

As explained previously that there are at least three possible conformation structures for pairwise interaction of zwitterionic betaine, i.e.,intra-group, or intra-chain, and inter-chain interaction [7,8]. In this section, the adsorption behavior of ions onto DMAAPS gel was compared with that of DMAABS gel in order to clearly explain the effect of chain length of the charged groups to the charged group conformation and their interaction toward ions from salt solution. Adsorption behavior of cation onto the DMAAPS and DMAABS gels was examined by using gels prepared with three different cross-linker concentrations, i.e., 5, 10, and 30 mmol/L as similar as our previous study [6].



Fig. 5–3 Amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the (a) DMAAPS and (b) DMAABS gels in 10 mmol/L $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution at various temperatures. The gels were prepared with three different cross-linker concentrations.

The amounts of ion adsorbed onto DMAAPS and DMAABS gels from $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution as a function of temperature are shown in Figs. 5–3(a)–(b). From Fig. 5–3(a), it is seen that the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel prepared with different MBAA concentrations (10 and 30 mmol/L) was almost the same at 10 °C. This phenomenon showed satisfactory agreement with our previous study [6]. With the use of a higher cross-linker concentration of 30 mmol/L, there was no significant change in the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed was almost constant at temperatures in the range of 10–50 °C and only decreased at temperature 70 °C. At a lower cross-linker concentration of 10 mmol/L, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed decreased significantly as the temperature increased from 50 to 70 °C. Then the adsorption behavior of ions onto DMAAPS is compared with that onto DMAABS as shown in Fig. 5–3(b). The amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto DMAABS gel prepared with a higher crosslinker concentration of 30 mmol/L only decreased gradually with increasing temperature. Furthermore, this similar tendency and value of the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto DMAABS was also observed in the gels prepared with lower cross-linker concentrations of 10 and 5 mmol/L. As our expectation that with increasing chain length of the charged functional groups may increase the intra-chain separation [3] that results in higher adsorption ability of the charged groups toward ions from salt solution. However, from both figures it can be seen that at lower temperature and higher cross-linker concentration, the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAABS gel is only slightly higher than that onto the DMAAPS gel. This phenomenon is attributed to the fact that in the case of polymer, DMAABS molecules become more hydrophobic [4] than that DMAAPS. Weers et al. [3] found that there was no spectroscopic evidence for charged groups wrapping around to form ion-pair, i.e., intragroups ionic pairing formation in longer chain with increasing the flexibility of the charge groups. Additionally, Jiang et al. [9] reported that the two charged groups of carboxybetaine molecule with a short carbon spacer length (CSL) (carbon < 3) are less charged due to the strong interplay between them, whereas the charged groups exhibits nearly identical and the interplay between them decreases sharply for molecule with a long spacer (carbon \geq 3). By considering the similarity between sulfobetaine and carboxybetaine, it is estimated that sulfobetaine with 4 methylene groups spacer (DMAABS) are highly charged that promoted the effective formation of inter-chain pairing of the charged groups of sulfobetaine, as a result the intra-chain pairings between the adjacent charged groups are suppressed. Since these inter-chain pairing are quite strong, an increase of the cross-linker concentration had no remarkable influence on the adsorbed amount of ions. In contrast, it depends on the adsorption temperature; as temperature increase, the thermal motions weaken the interaction between ions in the Zn(NO₃)₂ solution and the charged groups of poly(DMAAPS), i.e., SO₃⁻ and N^+ [6,10]



Fig. 5–4 Amount of Na⁺ adsorbed onto the (a) DMAAPS and (b) DMAABS gels in 10 mmol/L NaNO₃ solution at various temperatures. The gels were prepared with three different cross-linker concentrations.

To assure that the adsorption data of DMAAPS and DMAABS gels above are reliable, the the adsorption experiment was also studied in NaNO₃ solution. Figs. 5–4(a)–(b) show the amounts of Na⁺ adsorbed onto DMAAPS and DMAABS gels from NaNO₃ solution. Interestingly, the adsorption behavior of Na⁺ has the similar trend with Zn^{2+} . The amount of Na⁺ adsorbed onto DMAAPS gel varied depends on the cross-linker concentration. Furthermore, it decreased with increasing cross-linker concentration. However, the amounts of Na⁺ adsorbed onto DMAABS gel remained unchanged with increasing cross-linker concentration as shown in Fig. 5–4(b).

5.3.3. A comparison of the swelling behaviors of DMAAPS and DMAABS gels in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ and $NaNO_3$ solutions

The swelling behaviors of the DMAAPS and DMAABS gels in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solutions of various temperatures were also examined. Fig. 5–5(a) shows the degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel measured in 10 mmol/L $Zn(NO_3)_2$. The degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel

prepared using a cross-linker concentration of 30 mmol/L increased gradually as the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ concentration increased, although this increase was not significant. Reducing the cross-linker concentration to 10 mmol/L increased the degree of swelling significantly. However, it was difficult to examine the swelling degree of the DMAAPS gel prepared at 5 mmol/L, since this gel was too fragile to form cylinder-shaped gel. The swelling behavior of DMAABS gel in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ is shown in Fig. 5–5(b). The network of the DMAABS gel did not expand with increasing temperature and cross-linker concentration used in preparation of the gel causing the swelling degree of the DMAABS gel in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution remained constant.



Fig. 5–5 Degree of swelling of the (a) DMAAPS and (b) DMAABS gels in 10 mmol/L $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution at various temperatures. The gels were prepared using different cross-linker concentrations.

The similar tendency of swelling of the DMAAPS and DMAABS gels was also observed in NaNO₃ solution as shown in Fig. 5–6. In the case of the DMAAPS gel, this phenomenon explained that difference between the maximum amount of cation adsorbed by the gel in NaNO₃ and Zn(NO₃)₂ which was about 0.012 mmol/L, did not change largely on the swelling degree of the gel. Furthermore, the swelling degree of DMAABS in NaNO₃ also remained unchanged despite variation of the temperature and cross-linker concentration. Although a detail understanding of the mechanism behind the effect of chain length of the charged functional groups has not obtained yet, except due to increasing of the hydrophobicity. It also might be due to the effective formation of inter-chain pairing which is resulted from their isolated charged [4], leading to the dramatically increase of the chain entanglement of the DMAABS. In this condition, the swelling ability of the DMAABS gel is limited because the pairings are strong. Although the swelling ability of these DMAABS gel is limited, the gel is still available to adsorb the ions from Zn(NO₃)₂ and NaNO₃, as shown by Fig. 5–3 and Fig. 5–4. This phenomenon is due to the fact that the the possibility of inter-chain pairing to interact with the ions from salt solution is still higher than that of intra-chain pairing. However, since a large number of inter-chain pairings are formed and the DMAABS gel becomes dense, the penetration of the ions into the gel network is hindered as a result the amount of ions adsorbed is suppressed.

The polymer concentration in the gel needs to be considered for the better understanding of the anomalous swelling and adsorption observed in DMAABS gel as shown in Figs. 5–3 to 5–6.



Fig. 5–6 Degree of swelling of the (a) DMAAPS and (b) DMAABS gels in 10 mmol/L NaNO₃ solution at various temperatures. The gels were prepared using different cross-linker concentrations.

5.3.4. A comparison of the relationship between the adsorption and swelling behaviors of DMAAPS and DMAABS gels

The relationship between the swelling degree of the gel and amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS and DMAABS gels prepared at three different cross-linker concentrations, i.e., 10 and 30 mmol/L, at various temperatures, i.e., 10, 30, 50, 70 °C, are summarized in Figs. 5– 7(a)–(b). As seen in Fig. 5–7(a), the data points laid on the same line for $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution even at different cross-linker concentrations and temperatures; these results associated with that of our previous study [6]. In this work, the swelling and adsorption behaviors were investigated in the DMAAPS gel prepared with 500 mmol/L, which was only half monomer concentration than that used in previous study. As explained previously, the relationship between the degree of swelling and the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed on the DMAAPS gels exhibits similar correlation despite variation of the monomer concentration used in the preparation of the gel.

Fig. 5–7(b) shows the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAABS gel. The amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAABS gel remained unchanged with increasing the swelling degree. In the case of DMAABS gel, the correlation between the swelling degree and amount of ions adsorbed in this gel is difficult to examine due to the fact that cross-linker concentration and temperature have only little influence on the swelling and adsorption behaviors of the DMAABS gel. The effective formation of the inter-chain pairing of the charged groups of sulfobetaine gel with 4 methylene groups spacer (DMAABS) resulted from their isolated charged caused a consequence; limits the ability of the gel to swell and makes the DMAABS gel dense. This condition hinders the penetration of the ions into the gel network as a result the amount of ions adsorbed is suppressed.



Fig. 5–7 Relationship between the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the (a) DMAAPS and (b) DMAABS gels and the degree of swelling of the gels. The gels were prepared using different cross-linker concentrations; the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed and the degree of swelling were measured in the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solutions of 10 mmol/L and at various temperatures (10, 30, 50, and 70 °C).

Therefore, an increase in the cross-linker concentration or temperature had no remarkable influence on the adsorbed amount of ions or swelling degree of the gel.

By converting the degree of swelling to the polymer concentration in the gel, by the following equation:

$$C_p = \frac{W_0}{V_0} \times \frac{1}{SD} \tag{1}$$

where C_p is the concentration of the polymer in the gel, W_0 is the weight of the dry sample gels, and V_0 is the volume of the dry sample gels, we found that the polymer concentration of the DMAABS gel were in range 318-516 g/L. At these polymer concentrations in the gel, the DMAABS gel has the same amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed. In contrast, the tendency of the relationship between the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed and the swelling degree of the DMAAPS gel with a monomer concentration of 500 mmol/L in the preparation of the gel was exactly the same to that of 1000 mmol/L, as described previously in Chapter 2 (Fig. 2–13).

Fig. 5-8 show the relationship between the swelling degree of the gel and amount of Na⁺

adsorbed onto the DMAAPS and DMAABS gels in NaNO₃ solution. Comparing this relationship to that in Zn(NO₃)₂ solution, same trend was observed although maximum adsorption capacity of DMAAPS gel in NaNO₃ was lower than in Zn(NO₃)₂. These phenomenon can be explained by the strong interaction between the fixed ionic groups of the DMAAPS gel with ions having higher valence [11]. Furthermore, for the DMAABS gel in NaNO₃ solution, the amount of Na⁺ adsorbed also remained unchanged with increasing the swelling degree or polymer concentration in the gel, similar to that of in Zn(NO₃)₂ as shown by Fig. 5–8. This result can be explained due to the dramatic increase of the formation of inter-chain pairing. Since the inter-chain pairing in the gel is strong enough, the swelling ability of the gel is restricted and the gel network is difficult to expand. As a result the swelling degree of the DMAABS gel remained small and was not influenced by the variation of the temperature and cross-linker concentration. The smaller swelling degree means the higher polymer concentration in the gel and the amount of cation adsorbed onto the gel [6] as also explained in Chapter 2.



Fig. 5–8 Relationship between the amount of Na^+ adsorbed onto the (a) DMAAPS and (b) DMAABS gels and the degree of swelling of the gels. The gels were prepared using different cross-linker concentrations; the amount of Na^+ adsorbed and the degree of swelling were measured in the NaNO₃ solutions of 10 mmol/L and at various temperatures (10, 30, 50, and 70 °C).

5.3.5. Time dependence of the phase transition of the poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) in water and $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution

As reported in our previous study [3] that the adsorption behavior of such anions and cations from salt solution onto the gels are well explained by the transition temperature of polysulfobetaine. The interaction between the charged groups of the sulfobetaine (SO_3^- and N^+) and the ions (cation and anion) from the salt solutions have a direct impact on the transition temperature of polysulfobetaine. In this section, the transition behaviors of poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) in Zn(NO₃)₂ solutions under various heating rate, solution concentrations, polymer concentrations, and molecular weight of polymer were examined to understand the effect of the number of methylene groups spacer on the interaction between the charged groups of sulfobetaine and ions from salt solution and its correlation with the adsorption behavior.

Temperature dependence of the transmittance of poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) solutions in water and in 1 mmol/L Zn(NO₃)₂ were plotted against time at 20 °C is shown in Fig. 5–9. The monomer concentration used in the preparation of the polymers was 20 mmol/L. The polymer concentration of poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) in the solution was 1 g/L. Firstly, temperature of polymer solution was controlled at 50 °C in order to reach stable conformation of polymer chains and dissociation of charged groups by ions from salt solutions. After constant transmittance was obtained, the temperature was then changed eventually to 20 °C, and the measurement of the transmittance was started. As seen in Fig. 5–9, initially the transmittance of poly(DMAABS) in water and 1 mmol/L Zn(NO₃)₂ was low, and the polymer solution was turbid. The initial turbidity slowly disappeared and the transmittance of poly(DMAABS) in water increased step by step with contact time. This transmittance of the poly(DMAABS) in 1 mmol/L Zn(NO₃)₂ increased rapidly compared with that in water. In addition, the transmittance reached a constant value after 3 h of contact time.

In contrast, in the case of poly(DMAAPS) in water or in 1 mmol/L $Zn(NO_3)_2$, the polymer solutions were completely transparent even at early contact time. The transmittance of the poly(DMAAPS) reached almost 100% despite increasing the contact time.



Fig. 5–9 Transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) and poly (DMAABS) in water and 1 mmol/L $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solutions of various contact time at 20 °C.

5.3.6. The phase transition of the poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) in water and $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution in various heating rates

Effect of heating rate on the transition behavior of poly(DMAABS) in water and 5 mmol/L Zn(NO₃)₂ solution is shown in Fig. 5–10. The transition temperature of poly(DMAABS) was observed at 50% transmittance for comparison purpose, since the transition temperature of poly(DMAABS) was broad. Heating rate was varied from 0.1–10 °C/min and the polymer concentration was 1 g/L. From Fig. 5–10(a), we could not observed the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) in both water and Zn(NO₃)₂ solution, since in all value of heating rate the transition temperatures were out of temperatures in the experimental range of 10–70 °C. In contrast, a slower heating rate of the thermosensitive

poly(DMAABS) solution, i.e., 0.1 °C/min produced lower transition temperature. The value of transition temperature was obtained close to each other at slower heating rate from 0.1–1 °C/min at about 39 °C. With increasing heating rate from 1–10 °C/min, the transition temperature was enhanced and increased from 39–43 °C. A faster heating rate induced instability of the polymer conformation at a certain temperature as shown by some discontinuity of temperature dependence of the transmittance. In contrast, at lower heating rate the instability conformation of the poly(DMAABS) did not occur. This phenomenon can be observed clearly in Fig. 5–10(b), that at lower heating rate the difference in the transition temperature can be neglected. This result attribute to the fact that at lower heating rate, longer time is required for each 1°C temperature increment. From this result heating rate of 1 °C/min was chosen to investigate the transition temperature of poly(DMAABS) under various conditions.



Fig. 5–10 Transition behavior of poly(DMAABS) (1 g/L) in water and 5 mmol/L $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solutions of various heating rate.

5.3.7. The phase transition of the poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) of various intrinsic viscosities in water and $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution

It is well known that viscosity of a betaine polymer affects the UCST of the polymer solution as reported by previous researcher [12]. Ning et al. [12] has been reported a change in the UCST of poly(DMAAPS) by simultaneously varying the molecular weight of polymer at different C_m of 2.5–361 g/L. The UCST found increased at low to intermediate C_m (2.5–100 g/L), and exhibited a gradual decrease with increasing C_m (~100 g/L). Another study [4] has only reported the UCST of poly(DMAABS) in very limited range of C_m , i.e., 292 g/L which was higher than 100 °C.

Therefore, in this section, the effect of intrinsic viscosity on the transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) solutions was investigated and compared simultaneously by varying the monomer concentration from the C_m (20–100 mmol/L). The polymer concentration in the solution was made only in 1 g/L to clearly observe the transition temperature in poly(DMAABS) solution. The temperature dependence of the transmittance of poly(DMAABS) and poly(DMAAPS) is shown in Fig. 5-11. From Fig. 5-11, it is seen that the transition temperature of poly(DMAABS) at C_m of 20 mmol/L was 39 °C. At a higher C_m of 40 mmol/L, the transition temperature of poly(DMAABS) increased to 65 °C. With further increasing the C_m to 100 mmol/L, the transition temperature of poly(DMAABS) increased to higher than the maximum temperature in the experimental range of 70 °C. Above result gives an explanation that a small increase in the molecular weight of poly(DMAABS) significantly increase the formation of inter-chain pairing between the charged groups of sulfobetaine as also explained previously in the adsorption behavior of ions onto this DMAABS gel. However, the transition temperatures of poly(DMAAPS) in water at C_m of 20, 40, 100 mmol/L are lower than 20, 14, and 16 °C, respectively, and that in Zn(NO₃)₂ solution was out of experimental temperature range 10-70 °C. As reported by previous researcher that the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) in water [12] and in various Zn(NO₃)₂





Fig. 5–11 Transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) in water of various viscosity of the polymer.

Furthermore, an interesting result was found in the transition temperature poly(DMAABS) in 10 mmol/L of Zn(NO₃)₂ solution as shown in Fig. 5–11(a) and (b). At higher monomer concentration, the transition temperature difference of poly(DMAABS) was small and almost constant. As seen in Fig. 5–11(a), the transition temperature of poly(DMAABS) at C_p of 1 g/L and C_m of 20, 40, and 100 mmol/L were 12, 30, and 39 °C, respectively. With further increasing the C_p to 5 g/L as shown in Fig. 5–11(b) the transition temperature of poly(DMAABS) at C_m of 20, 40, and 100 mmol/L were 21, 36, and higher than 100 °C, which is out of the experimental range, respectively. An increase in the transition temperature of poly(DMAABS) at higher monomer and polymer concentrations can be explained due to the fact that the ability of ions to dissociate the pairing is restricted. This restriction occurred because of the effective formation of isolated charged of the poly(DMAABS) [4]. This phenomenon is also in agreement with the swelling and adsorption behaviors of the DMAABS gel (see Fig. 5–(3–6)); the amount of ion adsorbed onto the DMAABS gel almost

remained unchanged despite variation of the temperature and cross-linker concentration at (C_p > 300 g/L).

5.3.8. The phase transition of the poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) of various polymer concentration in water and $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution

The temperature dependence of the transmittance through an aqueous solution of poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) at different polymer concentrations is shown in Fig. 5–12. For poly(DMAABS) in water, as the polymer concentration increased (0.5–5 g/L), the transition temperature of the polymer increased from 28 to 48 °C. Similar tendency of the transition temperature was observed for the poly(DMAABS) in Zn(NO₃)₂, although the difference of the transition temperature was quite large about 25 °C. In contrast, the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) can only be observed at C_p of 5 and 10 g/L; which only slightly increased from 13 to 17 °C. The transition temperatures of poly(DMAAPS) solution of lower polymer concentration (0.5–2 g/L) were lower than 10 °C.

This phenomenon is in agreement with the results of previous researchers for poly(DMAAPS) [7,13]. An increase in the polymer concentration leads to an increase in the intra-chain and/or inter-chain interaction. Therefore, more thermal energy is required to overcome this interaction as a result the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) increased with increasing polymer concentration. Additionally, the polymer is soluble in water above the UCST; the hydrated polymer chains form an expanded structure due to the fact that the thermal motion of the polymer chains can overcome the interaction between the side chains of the polymer, that is, the inter- and/or intra-chain interactions of the N⁺ and SO₃⁻ groups in poly(DMAABS). However, below the UCST, they form aggregates because the intra- and/or inter-chain interactions are stronger than the force of molecular motion [14]. Such a high transition temperature shown by poly(DMAABS) is due to a high probability of the ion pair formation, and high stability against heating as a result from their high hydrophobicity [3,4].



Fig. 5–12 Transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) and poly (DMAABS) (1 g/L) in water of various polymer concentrations.

5.3.9. The phase transition of poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution of various concentration

The transition behavior of poly(DMAABS) in Zn(NO₃)₂ solution is shown in Fig. 5–13. The poly(DMAAPS) concentration was 1 g/L. As the Zn(NO₃)₂ concentration increased, the transition temperature of poly(DMAABS) decreased. When poly(DMAABS) was dissolved in the Zn(NO₃)₂ solutions with concentrations from 0 to 5 mmol/L, the transition temperature decreased from 39 to ~ 21 °C. A decrease in the transition temperature indicated that the ionic pairing between N⁺ and SO₃⁻ was dissociated by Zn²⁺ and NO₃⁻. With further increasing the Zn(NO₃)₂ concentration to 10 mmol/L, the transition temperature decreased significantly to less than 10 °C which is out of the experimental range and induced a change in the transparency of the solution. In the case of highly concentrated Zn(NO₃)₂ solution, the dissociation of the ionic pairing of SO₃⁻ and N⁺ occurred easier because a significant number of ions (Zn²⁺ and NO₃⁻) were available for disruption of the inter- and/or intra-chain association [12]. Because of such dissociation of ionic pairing, soluble polymer chains and

transparent solution were obtained. A similar phenomenon, in which the UCST of the solution decreases because of the dissociation of ionic pairing, was previously reported by Ning et al. [12]. In contrast, when the poly(DMAAPS) was dissolved in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution, no transition can be observed despite the variation of the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ concentration.



Fig. 5–13 Transition behavior of poly(DMAABS) (1 g/L) in Zn(NO₃)₂ solutions of various concentrations.

5.4. Summary

The effect of methylene groups spacer between the charged functional groups of sulfobetaine on the adsorption, swelling, and transition behaviors of the DMAAPS and DMAABS polymers or gels was investigated using NaNO₃, Zn(NO₃)₂ solutions. The amount of ion adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and its swelling degree depended strongly on the temperature and cross-linker concentration in the preparation of the gel. In contrast, the amount of ion adsorbed onto the DMAABS gel was independent of the cross-linker concentration used in the preparation of the gel. Furthermore, the swelling degree of the DMAABS gel was also independent of the cross-linker concentration and temperature. In

addition, the correlation between the degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel and the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed on the gel was compared with that of the DMAABS gel. In the case of the DMAAPS gel, the data points fell on the same line correlation despite variation of the crosslinker concentration or temperature, similar as our previous study. On the other hand, the correlation between the swelling degree and amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAABS gel was difficult to examine since the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed on the DMAABS gel remained unchanged with increasing the swelling degree because of the effective formation of the interchain pairing of the charged groups of the DMAABS gel.

The transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) was strongly influenced by the contact time, the heating rate, the salt solution concentration and anion and cation species in the solutions. It was found that the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) could be observed over a wide range of polymer and monomer concentration in the preparation of the polymer. However, the transition temperature of poly(DMABS) especially in water was observable only for a small range of monomer concentration in the preparation of the polymer i.e., 20-40 mmol/L. Additionally, the transition temperature of poly(DMAABS) slightly increased with that of poly(DMAAPS). These results suggest that the interaction between positive and negative charged groups in the DMAABS is stronger than that in the DMAAPS.

5.5. References

- [1] Sonnenschein L, Seubert A. J Chromatogr Sci 2011;49:589–95.
- [2] Sonnenschein L, Seubert A. J Chromatogr A 2011;1218:1185–94.
- [3] Weers JG, Rathman JF, Axe FU, Crichlow CA, Foland LD, Scheuing DR, Wiersema RJ, Zielske AG. Langmuir 1991;7:854–67.
- [4] Ning J, Li G, Haraguchi K. Macromolecules 2013;46:5317–28.
- [5] Lee WF, Tsai CC. Polymer 1994;35:2210–7.

- [6] Ningrum EO, Murakami Y, Ohfuka Y, Gotoh T, Sakohara S. Polymer 2014;55:5189– 97.
- [7] Kudaibergenov SE, Jaeger W, Laschewsky A. Adv Polym Sci 2006;201:157–224.
- [8] Kudaibergenov SE. Polyampholytes, In: Encyclopedia of polymer science and technology. New York: John Wiley Interscience; 2008.
- [9] Shao Q, Jiang S. J Phys Chem B 2013;117:1357–66.
- [10] Das M, Sanson N, Kumacheva E. Chem Mater 2008;20:7157–63.
- [11] Lee WF, Tsai CC. Polymer 1995;36:357–64.
- [12] Ning J, Kubota K, Li G, Haraguchi K. React Funct Polym 2013;73:969–78.
- [13] Takahashi A, Sakohara S. J Appl Polym Sci 2011;122:1530-7.
- [14] Eeckman F, Amighi K, Moës AJ. Int J Pharm 2001;222:259–70.

Chapter 6

Conclusion

The overall goal of this work was to study the ion-adsorption properties, swelling behavior, and transition behavior of zwitterionic sulfobetaine type, *N*,*N*-dimethyl-(acrylamidopropyl)ammonium propane sulfonate (DMAAPS) and *N*,*N*-dimethyl-(acrylamidopropyl)ammonium butane sulfonate (DMAABS), polymers and gels and their relationship. The major conclusions obtained in this thesis are as follows,

- 1. Various effects of the temperature and the conditions employed in the preparation of the gel, i.e., cross-linker and monomer concentrations, on the adsorption of cations and anions onto the sulfobetaine type DMAAPS gels were investigated in various nitrate solutions. The simultaneous adsorption of cations and anions was observed. Furthermore, an interesting correlation between the degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel and the amount of ion adsorbed onto the gel was found; the data points laid on the same line, even at different cross-linker and monomer concentrations in the preparation of the gel or temperatures, when the ion concentration was the same. From this correlation the maximum amount of ion adsorbed onto the gel for the specific ion species could be estimated, and it was found to be proportional to the equilibrium concentration of ion in the solution.
- 2. It was observed that anion and cation species in aqueous salt solutions, i.e., KF, KCl, KBr, KI, KNO₃, LiNO₃, Zn(NO₃)₂, Mg(NO₃)₂, Ca(NO₃)₂, ZnCl₂, and ZnSO₄ influenced the adsorption and swelling behaviors of the DMAAPS gel as well as their relationship. In the halide solutions, the order of the amount of ion adsorbed onto the gel was opposite that of

ion species in the Hofmeister series. Additionally, it was found that in the mixture of these halide solutions, the competitive adsorption of anions occurred. In the mixture, the adsorbed amount of the anion on the more right side of the Hofmeister series became larger than that in the single-components solutions, while those on the more left side of the Hofmeister series became smaller than in the single-components solutions. It was also found in other aqueous salt solutions that the influence of anion is usually more significant as compared to that of cation on the maximum adsorption capacity and the polymer concentration in the gel at which the adsorption of ion remained constant primarily in the solution containing divalent cations.

3. In order to understand the role of ionic interaction between the charged groups of sulfobetaine and ions from salt solutions, the transition behavior of the poly(DMAAPS) was investigated in various salt solutions containing different anion and cation species. The transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) was strongly influenced by the salt solution concentration and anion and cation species in the solutions. Interaction of charged groups with ions from salt solutions may lead to the dissociation or entanglement of polymeric chains of DMAAPS. Additionally, the relationship between the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) and the maximum amount of ion adsorbed by the DMAAPS gel in various solutions was elucidated. The transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) initially increased with increasing the salt concentration in the solution, and then decreased as the concentration of salt increased further. Furthermore, the transition temperature of poly(DMAAPS) initially increased and then decreased as the maximum amount of ion adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel increased, which depend on the ion species and ion concentration. This result suggests that the maximum amount of ion adsorbed can be simply estimated by measuring the transition temperature.
4. The effect of methylene groups spacer between the charged functional groups of sulfobetaine on the adsorption, swelling, and transition behaviors using the DMAAPS and DMAABS polymers and/or gels was investigated in the NaNO₃, Zn(NO₃)₂ solutions. The amount of ion adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and its swelling degree depended strongly on the temperature and cross-linker concentration in the preparation of the gel. In contrast, the amount of ion adsorbed onto the DMAABS gel was independent of the cross-linker concentration used in the preparation of the gel. Furthermore, the swelling degree of the DMAABS gel was also independent of the cross-linker concentration and temperature. In addition, the transition temperature of poly(DMAABS) slightly increased with that of poly(DMAAPS). These results suggest that the interaction between positive and negative charged groups in the DMAABS is stronger than that in the DMAAPS.

APPENDIX

Nomenclature

Q	amount of cation or anion adsorbed	[mmol/g-dry gel]
C_0	concentration of cation or anion in the initial solution	[mmol/L]
С	concentration of cation or anion in the solution after adsorption	[mmol/L]
V	volume of the solution	[L]
т	weight of the dry ground gels	[g]
$d_{\rm swell}$	diameter of swollen gel	[mm]
$d_{\rm dry}$	diameter of dry gel	[mm]
C_p	concentration of polymer in the gel or in the solution	[g/L]
C_m	concentration of monomer in the preparation of the polymer	[mmol/L]
W_0	weight of dry sample gels	[g]
V_0	volume of dry sample gels	[L]
Q _{max}	maximum amount of cation adsorbed onto gel	[mmol/g-dry gel]
C_e	equilibrium concentration of cation	[mmol/L]
η_{sp}	specific viscosity	_
η_{rel}	relative viscosity	_
[η]	intrinsic viscosity	[dL/g]

List of Figures

Chapter 1.

- Fig. 1–1 Intra-group (a), intra-chain (b), and inter-chain (c) salt bonds in polybetaine.
- Fig. 1–2 Structure of lauroyl amino propyl dimethyl carbobetaine.
- Fig. 1–3 Structure of *N*,*N*-dimethyl(acrylamidopropil)ammonium propane sulfonate (DMAAPS).
- Fig. 1–4 Polysulfobetaine compiled in several reviews.
- Fig. 1–5 Structure of 2-methacryloyloxyethyl phosphorylcholine (MPC).

Chapter 2.

- **Fig. 2–1** Chemical structure of *N*,*N*-dimethyl(acrylamidopropyl)ammonium propane sulfonate (DMAAPS).
- **Fig. 2–2** Chemical structures of *N*,*N*-dimethylaminopropylacrylamide methyl chloride quaternary (DMAPAA-Q) and sodium 2-(acrylamido)-2-methylpropane-sulfonate (NaAMPS).
- Fig. 2–3 Time dependence of the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel at 50 °C in 5 mmol/L $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution.
- **Fig. 2–4** Amounts of the cation and anion adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel in (a) NaNO₃ solution, (b) Zn(NO₃)₂ solution, and (c) Al(NO₃)₃ of various concentrations.
- Fig. 2–5 Relationship between the amounts of the cations $(Na^+, Zn^{2+}, and Al^{3+})$ and anion (NO_3^-) adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel in NaNO₃, $Zn(NO_3)_2$, and $Al(NO_3)_3$ solutions of various concentrations.
- Fig. 2–6 Adsorbed amount of Zn^{2+} , Al^{3+} and NO_3^- onto the DMAPAA-Q-*co*-NaAMPS gel and released amount of Na⁺ from the DMAPAA-Q-*co*-NaAMPS gel in (a) $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution and (b) Al(NO₃)₃ solution of various concentrations.

- Fig. 2–7 (a) Amount of Zn²⁺ adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and (b) the degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel in Zn(NO₃)₂ solutions of various concentrations at 50 °C. The gels were prepared at three different cross-linker concentrations.
- Fig. 2–8 (a) Amount of Zn²⁺ adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and (b) degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel in 10 mmol/L Zn(NO₃)₂ solution at various temperatures. The gels were prepared at three different cross-linker concentrations.
- Fig. 2–9 (a) Amount of Zn²⁺ adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and (b) degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel in Zn(NO₃)₂ solutions of various concentrations at 50 °C. The gels were prepared at three different monomer concentrations.
- Fig. 2–10 (a) Amount of Zn²⁺ adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and (b) degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel in 10 mmol/L Zn(NO₃)₂ solution at various temperatures. The gels were prepared at three different monomer concentrations.
- **Fig. 2–11** Relationship between the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and (a) the degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel and (b) the polymer concentration in the gel. The gels were prepared at three different cross-linker concentrations; the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed and the degree of swelling were measured in the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solutions of various concentrations (2.5, 5, 7.5, and 10 mmol/L) and at various temperatures (10, 30, 50, and 70 °C).
- Fig. 2–12 Relationship between the maximum adsorption capacity of DMAAPS gel for Zn^{2+} and $Zn(NO_3)_2$ equilibrium concentrations.
- Fig. 2–13 Relationship between the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAAPS gel and (a) the degree of swelling, and (b) the polymer concentration in the gel. The gels were prepared at three different monomer concentrations; the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed and the degree of swelling were measured in $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solutions of various concentrations and at various temperatures.

Chapter 3.

- Fig. 3–1 Amount of K⁺ adsorbed onto DMAAPS gel from 10 mmol/L (a) KF, (b) KCl, (c) KBr, and (d) KI solutions at various temperatures. The gels were prepared at three different cross-linker concentrations.
- Fig. 3–2 Swelling degrees of DMAAPS gel measured in 10 mmol/L (a) KF, (b) KCl, (c) KBr, and (d) KI solutions at various temperatures. The gels were prepared at three different cross-linker concentrations.
- Fig. 3–3 Swelling degrees of DMAAPS gel prepared using (a) 30, (b) 10, and (c) 5 mmol/L of cross-linker measured in water and 10 mmol/L KF, KCl, KBr, and KI solutions at various temperatures.
- Fig. 3–4 Amounts of ions adsorbed onto DMAAPS gel in (a) KI + KF, (b) KI + KCl, (c) KI + KBr, (d) KBr + KF, and (e) KBr + KCl mixtures at various temperatures. The concentration of each halide solution was 10 mmol/L. The DMAAPS gels were prepared at a 30 mmol/L cross-linker concentration.
- Fig. 3–5 Swelling degrees of DMAAPS gels measured in (a) a KI + KF mixture and (b) KI
 + KF, KI + KCl, KI + KBr, KBr + KF, and KBr + KCl mixtures at various temperatures. The concentration of each halide solution was 10 mmol/L. The DMAAPS gels were prepared at 30 mmol/L cross-linker concentration.
- Fig. 3-6 Relationship between the amount of K⁺ adsorbed onto DMAAPS gel and (a) the swelling degree of the DMAAPS gel and (b) the polymer concentration in the gel. The gels were prepared at three different cross-linker concentrations, and the amounts of K⁺ adsorbed and swelling degrees were measured in KF, KCl, KBr, and KI solutions at various temperatures.
- Fig. 3–7 Relationship between KI equilibrium concentrations and (a) maximum adsorption amount of K⁺ onto DMAAPS gel for K⁺ and (b) degree of swelling of the DMAAPS gel in diluted concentrations of KI solutions at 10 °C. The DMAAPS gels were prepared at a 30 mmol/L cross-linker concentration.

- Fig. 3–8 The relationship between the amount of cation adsorbed on the DMAAPS gel and (a) the swelling degree of the DMAAPS gel and (b) the polymer concentration in the gel. The gels were prepared at different cross-linker concentrations, and the adsorption amount of Zn^{2+} and swelling degree were measured in the KNO₃, LiNO₃ solutions of various temperatures.
- Fig. 3–9 The relationship between the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed on the DMAAPS gel and (a) the swelling degree of the DMAAPS gel and (b) the polymer concentration in the gel. The gels were prepared at different cross-linker concentrations, and the adsorption amount of Zn^{2+} and swelling degree were measured in the Ca(NO₃)₂, Zn(NO₃)₂, and Mg(NO₃)₂ solutions of various temperatures.
- Fig. 3–10 The relationship between the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed on the DMAAPS gel and (a) the swelling degree of the DMAAPS gel and (b) the polymer concentration in the gel. The gels were prepared at different cross-linker concentrations, and the adsorption amount of Zn^{2+} and swelling degree were measured in the $Zn(NO_3)_2$, $ZnCl_2$, and $ZnSO_4$ solutions of various temperatures.

Chapter 4.

- **Fig. 4–1** Transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) (100 g/L) in Zn(NO₃)₂ solutions of various concentrations.
- Fig. 4–2 Transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) (20 g/L) in (a) KF, (b) KCl, (c) KBr, and (d) KI solutions of various concentrations.
- **Fig. 4–3** Transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) in 10 mmol/L nitrate, sulphate and chloride solutions with a common cation of (a) Zn^{2+} (b) Ni⁺ (c) Na⁺ (d) K⁺.
- Fig. 4–4 Transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) in 10 mmol/L (a) nitrate (b) chloride and (c) sulphate solutions containing different cation species.
- **Fig. 4–5** Relationship between the transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) and the maximum adsorption amount of cations in various solutions with concentration of 10 mmol/L.

Chapter 5.

- **Fig. 5–1** Synthesis reaction and chemical structure of *N*,*N*-dimethyl(acrylamidopropyl)-ammonium butane sulfonate (DMAABS).
- Fig. 5–2 Time dependence of the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the DMAABS gel at 50 °C in 10 mmol/L $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution.
- Fig. 5–3 Amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the (a) DMAAPS and (b) DMAABS gels in 10 mmol/L $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solution at various temperatures. The gels were prepared with three different cross-linker concentrations.
- Fig. 5–4 Amount of Na⁺ adsorbed onto the (a) DMAAPS and (b) DMAABS gels in 10 mmol/L NaNO₃ solution at various temperatures. The gels were prepared with three different cross-linker concentrations.
- Fig. 5–5 Degree of swelling of the (a) DMAAPS and (b) DMAABS gels in 10 mmol/L Zn(NO₃)₂ solution at various temperatures. The gels were prepared using different cross-linker concentrations.
- Fig. 5–6 Degree of swelling of the (a) DMAAPS and (b) DMAABS gels in 10 mmol/L NaNO₃ solution at various temperatures. The gels were prepared using different cross-linker concentrations.
- Fig. 5–7 Relationship between the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed onto the (a) DMAAPS and (b) DMAABS gels and the degree of swelling of the gels. The gels were prepared using different cross-linker concentrations; the amount of Zn^{2+} adsorbed and the degree of swelling were measured in the $Zn(NO_3)_2$ solutions of 10 mmol/L and at various temperatures (10, 30, 50, and 70 °C).
- Fig. 5–8 Relationship between the amount of Na⁺ adsorbed onto the (a) DMAAPS and (b) DMAABS gels and the degree of swelling of the gels. The gels were prepared using different cross-linker concentrations; the amount of Na⁺ adsorbed and the degree of swelling were measured in the NaNO₃ solutions of 10 mmol/L and at various temperatures (10, 30, 50, and 70 °C).

- **Fig. 5–9** Transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) and poly (DMAABS) in water and 1 mmol/L Zn(NO₃)₂ solutions of various contact time at 20 °C.
- **Fig. 5–10** Transition behavior of poly(DMAABS) (1 g/L) in water and 5 mmol/L Zn(NO₃)₂ solutions of various heating rate.
- Fig. 5–11 Transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) and poly(DMAABS) in water of various viscosity of the polymer.
- Fig. 5–12 Transition behavior of poly(DMAAPS) and poly (DMAABS) (1 g/L) in water of various polymer concentrations.
- **Fig. 5–13** Transition behavior of poly(DMAABS) (1 g/L) in Zn(NO₃)₂ solutions of various concentrations.

List of Tables

- **Table 2–1**Synthesis composition of DMAAPS gel.
- **Table 4–1**Synthesis composition of DMAAPS polymer.
- **Table 5–1**Synthesis composition of DMAAPS and DMAABS gel.
- **Table 5–2**Synthesis composition of DMAAPS and DMAABS polymer.